Public Document Pack

Committee Agenda
City of Westminster
Title:
Meeting Date:
Time:
Venue:
Members:

Economic Development Education Community and Place
Shaping Policy and Scrutiny Committee
Wednesday 30th January, 2019
7.00 pm
Room 3.1, 3rd Floor, 5 Strand, London, WC2 5HR
Councillors:
Karen Scarborough (Chairman)
Geoff Barraclough
Danny Chalkley
Christabel Flight
Elizabeth Hitchcock
Andrea Mann
Eoghain Murphy
Tim Roca

Elected Voting Representatives
Rebecca Carrigan, Parent Governor
Ryan Nicol, Parent Governor
Co-opted Voting Representatives
Simon Atkinson, Church of England
Vacant, Roman Catholic
Non-Voting Co-opted Representatives
Sian Maddrell, Headteacher, Grey Coat
Hospital
Miles Ridley, Headteacher, St Peter’s Eaton
Square

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda
Admission to the public gallery is by ticket, issued from the
ground floor reception. If you have a disability and require
any special assistance please contact the Committee Officer
(details listed below) in advance of the meeting.

T

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter. If you require
any further information, please contact the Committee
Officer, Sarah Craddock, Senior Committee and Governance
Officer.
Tel: 020 7641 2770; Email: scraddock@westminster.gov.uk
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact
the Head of Committee and Governance Services in advance of the meeting please.

AGENDA
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)
1.

MEMBERSHIP
The Director of Law to report that there are no changes.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations of interest by Members and Officers of
any personal or prejudicial interests.

3.

MINUTES

(Pages 5 - 12)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 19 November 2018.
4.

CABINET MEMBERS FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT,
EDUCATION AND SKILLS AND SPORTS, CULTURE AND
COMMUNITY

(Pages 13 - 38)

Councillor David Harvey (Cabinet Member for Economic
Development, Education and Skills) and Councillor Iain Bott
(Cabinet Member for Sports, Culture and Community) to update
the Committee on current and forthcoming issues in their
Portfolios.
5.

CABINET MEMBER FOR PLACE SHAPING AND PLANNING

(Pages 39 - 46)

Councillor Richard Beddoe (Cabinet Member for Place Shaping
and Planning) to update the Committee on current and
forthcoming issues in his Portfolio.
6.

SCHOOL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018

(Pages 47 - 66)

To evaluate areas of success and areas to be developed.
7.

DRAFT CITY PLAN 2019-2040 - ECONOMIC GROWTH
To review the draft City Plan and provide comment as part of the
consultation process.

(Pages 67 - 86)

8.

TRACKER AND WORK PROGRAMME
a) To note the progress in implementing the Committee’s
Recommendation and Action Tracker.
b) To provide comment and input into the Work Programme
for 2018/19.

Stuart Love
Chief Executive
22 January 2019

(Pages 87 - 96)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

MINUTES
CITY OF WESTMINSTER
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, EDUCATION, COMMUNITY AND PLACE SHAPING
POLICY & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19 NOVEMBER 2018
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Minutes of a meeting of the Economic Development, Education, Community and
Place Shaping Policy & Scrutiny Committee held on Monday 19 November 2018 at
6.30pm at Westminster City Hall, 5 Strand, London WC2 5HR.
Members Present: Councillors Karen Scarborough (Chairman), Geoff Barraclough,
Danny Chalkley, Christabel Flight, Elizabeth Hitchcock, Andrea Mann, Eoghain Murphy
and Tim Roca.
Co-opted Members: Rebecca Carrigan, Ryan Nichol, Simon Atkinson, Marie Holmes
and Miles Ridley.
Also present: Councillor David Harvey (Cabinet Member for Economic Development,
Education and Community) and Councillor Richard Beddoe (Cabinet Member for Place
Shaping and Planning)
Apologises: Sian Maddrell.

1.

MEMBERSHIP

1.1

It was noted that Marie Holmes had substituted for Sian Maddrell.

1.2

The Chairman welcomed Councillor David Harvey (Cabinet Member for
Economic Development, Education and Community) and Councillor Richard
Beddoe (Cabinet Member for Place Shaping and Planning) to the meeting.

1.3

The Chairman advised that the Cabinet Members would be attending the meeting
until 7pm tonight in order to attend Cabinet Briefing. Any questions that
Members had regarding their portfolio would be placed on the Committee’s
Action Tracker.

1.4

The Chairman welcomed John Trow-Smith, London Early Years Foundation,
Elizabeth Hillyard, Tachbrook Nursery School and Marie Holmes, The Grey Coat
Hospital School who took part in the discussion on the School Organisation and
Investment Strategy.

Page 5

2.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST

2.1

No further declarations of interests in respect of items to be discussed were
made, other than those noted in the circulated schedule as set out below in
paragraph 2.2.

2.2

Table of Member’s interests tabled at the Committee Meeting was as follows:

Councillor/Member
of the Economic
Development,
Education,
Community and
Place Shaping P&S
Committee
Simon Atkinson

Organisation

Nature of Interest

St Stephen’s Primary
School

Headteacher

Geoff Barraclough

Dorothy Gardner
Centre

Partner is a Governor at the school

Rebecca Carrigan

All Souls Primary School

Parent Governor

Danny Chalkley

Burdett Coutts School
Foundation

Trustee

Elizabeth Hitchcock

St Andrew’s Club

Trustee

Marie Holmes

The Grey Coat Hospital School

Bursar

Miles Ridley

St Peter’s Eaton Square
School

Headteacher

Ryan Nichol

St Gabriel’s Primary School

Parent Governor

Tim Roca

Paddington Academy

Governor

Karen Scarborough

St Vincent’s School

Governor

St Mary of Angels

Governor

Young Westminster
Foundation

Trustee

St Marylebone Almshouses

Trustee

Page 6

3.

MINUTES

3.1

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2018 be
approved for signature by the Chairman as a true and correct record of the
proceedings.

4.

QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION: CABINET MEMBER FOR ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT, EDUCATION AND COMMUNITY

4.1

The Committee received a written update from the Cabinet Member who
responded to questions on the following topics:






4.2

the consultation on the Markets Strategy which aimed to help markets thrive and
the proposed changes to street trading licence fees and charges.
the ActiveWestminster Strategy and the plans to build on existing work around
‘ActiveStreets with it becoming a key #MyWestminster project.
the future SEND pupil projections and capacity within Westminster schools.
the importance of tackling isolation and loneliness through the Family and
Community Learning Partnership.
the opportunities for including financial data in reports.
ACTIONS

1. The Committee requested a briefing note on the Active Streets Pilot.
2. The Committee requested a briefing note on whether ‘Active Minutes’ in
Westminster’s schools had increased in the past year.
3. The Committee requested a briefing note on the next steps for Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) in Westminster.
4. Councillor Harvey to arrange a meeting with Councillor Barraclough to discuss
the data/financial implications for particular services.

5.

QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION: CABINET MEMBER FOR PLACE
SHAPING AND PLANNING

5.1

The Committee received a written update from the Cabinet Member who
responded to questions on the following topics:




the parking facilities available in the Oxford Street Delivery Plan.
the benefits of the Government’s recently published proposals to remove
permitted development rights for new phone boxes.
the allocation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding for projects.

Page 7



5.2

the City Plan, the Mayfair Neighbourhood Plan and Park Lane.
the commencement of the Berkeley Square project.
ACTION

1. The Committee requested an update on the Berkeley Square project.

6.

SCHOOL ORGANISATION AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2018

6.1

The Committee received a report on the School Organisation and Investment
Strategy 2018, which provided details on place planning, projected pupil
numbers, spare capacity and opportunities for providing new school places.

6.2

The Committee heard that the data used to obtain the information for the
Strategy was collected from the 2011 Census and from the GLA School Roll
Projection Service. The Committee heard there was still currently a small surplus
of primary school places and that the Council was in discussion with all schools
to identify opportunities to develop a collaborative approach to ensure future
viability. The Committee noted that the Strategy anticipated the increasing need
for additional secondary school pupil places and the flexible approach
Westminster was taking to provide these places in the future.

6.3

The Committee discussed the following issues:










the creative ways and principals that would guide Westminster in providing more
secondary school places within Westminster.
the opportunities to work with academy sponsors to assist in delivering additional
secondary school places.
the additional secondary school places that had already been created at St
George’s school and Westminster City and the expansion projects at King
Solomon Academy and Pimlico Academy.
the work carried out by the Admissions Team on encouraging parents to make
realistic preference choices on their school admission form
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision and the possibility
of SEND units being located in Westminster’s mainstream schools.
the secondary population trends and cross border movement and the popularity
of Westminster’s Outstanding Secondary schools,
the capacity and admissions criteria of the Sir Simon Milton Foundation UTC.
the financial issues facing Primary schools that were exacerbated when a school
was not at full capacity and the creative ways to use school resources.
the impact of Regeneration Schemes, Universal Credit and Brexit on school
places across London.

Page 8

6.4

ACTIONS:
1. The Committee requested that they receive regular updates regarding the
potential expansion of Pimlico Academy (particularly Professor Ryan and
Councillor Andrea Mann).
2. The Committee requested a briefing note on the capacity/admission criteria of
the Sir Simon Milton Foundation UTC.
3. The Committee requested to see the report commissioned on staff turnover in
Westminster’s schools.

6.5

RESOLVED: The Committee concluded with the following comments, which
would be forwarded to the Cabinet Member for Economic Development,
Education, and Community:
1. The Committee welcomed the work that had already been undertaken to provide
additional secondary school places and noted that further consideration still
needed to be carried out on the different options of how to provide the necessary
school places in the future.
2. The Committee encouraged that, due to the small surplus of places in primary
schools in Westminster and financial issues being exacerbated when a school is
not at full capacity, primary schools be encouraged to be creative when meeting
these financial challenges. This can include solutions such as letting or renting
school spaces to external organisations and sharing resources amongst schools,
including headteachers/teachers/equipment.
3. The Committee highlighted the need for the Admissions Team to continue
sharing knowledge and supporting schools regarding encouraging parents to
make realistic preference choices on their school admissions form
4. The Committee suggested that carrying out comparisons with other local
boroughs to learn from their strategies and improve existing practices could be
useful.

7.

EARLY YEARS

7.1

The Committee received a report providing information on Early Years Funding
and the Government’s Free Early Years Education Entitlement, both nationally
and in the context of Westminster City Council.

7.2

The Committee welcomed witnesses from London Early Years Foundation
(LEYF) and Tachbrook Nursery School who outlined the work of their
organisations. The Committee heard that there were four maintained nursery

Page 9

schools in Westminster and that LEYF was a charity and social enterprise
operating 37 nurseries across 10 London Boroughs.
7.3

The Committee then discussed the following issues with the witnesses:








the work of the Quality Assurance Team and how they supported and assured
good quality Early Years Provision within Westminster.
the scope for sharing knowledge from outstanding maintained nursery schools to
other providers in the sector.
the current funding allocations to providers delivering universal and additional
entitlements for 3-4 year olds and disadvantaged 2 year olds.
the importance of regular and continuous Early Years education for all children
and especially for children with special educational needs and disabilities
(SEND).
the reasons why the take up of the 30 hour a week extended entitlement may be
significantly lower than initially anticipated (benefit reforms and restricted midterm starts at provision).
the importance of providing good quality flexible childcare/childminders for
parents.
the high proportion of SEND children that attended maintained nursery and the
support and balance that needed to be achieved between maintained and private
provision so children could attend their local provision.

7.4

The Chairman thanked everyone who had given up their time to attend the
meeting and contribute to the discussion

7.5

ACTION:
1. The Committee requested a briefing note outlining how the Early Years Team
would be updating their operational procedures.

7.6

RESOLVED: The Committee concluded with the following comments, which
would be forwarded to the Cabinet Member for Economic Development,
Education, and Community:
1. That a review of data around eligibility to the free entitlement to nursery provision
be carried out and reported back to the Committee.
2. That the Committee receive the updated childcare sufficiency data once available
in Spring 2019.
3. That outstanding nursery schools within the City share knowledge or lessons
learnt with other nursery providers, especially around provision for nursery pupils
with SEND.

Page 10

4. That the Committee endorsed the importance of early intervention in a child’s
development and that lobbying for the continuation of funding for this important
area was essential to maintain good Early Years provision.

8.

ACTION AND RECOMMENDATION TRACKERS AND COMMITTEE WORK
PROGRAMME

8.1

ACTION AND RECOMMENDATION TRACKERS

8.1.1 RESOLVED: That the Action and Recommendation Trackers be noted.
8.2

COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

8.2.1 RESOLVED:
1. That the Work Programme be noted.
2. That a Working Group be established to investigate Access to Culture within the
City.
9.

TERMINATION OF MEETING

9 .1

The meeting ended at 8:38pm.

CHAIRMAN _____________________

DATE ________________

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Economic Development, Education, Skills and
Place Shaping
Committee Briefing
Committee date:

30th January, 2019

Author:

Councillor David Harvey

Portfolio:

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for
Economic Development, Education and Skills

Please contact:

David Lee
dlee@westminster.gov.uk

Key Priorities







Ensuring Westminster residents have the right skills and opportunities for today’s
and tomorrow’s economic challenges
Continue building on the success of our schools across the borough being some
of the best in the country
Widen the educational offer to young people to include vocational and alternative
paths to employment and future careers
Work with businesses to ensure Westminster has the best conditions to promote
enterprise, growth and employment harnessing the networks and connections
we have across the city.
Improve our outstanding Library services whilst ensuring they are fit for purpose
for the 21st century

This P&S report for Economic Development, Education and Skills, provides an
update on the activities and priorities within my portfolio, if you require further details
on specific items senior officers will be happy to provide this information outside the
Policy and Scrutiny committee meeting including financial reports.
Economic Development
1.

Markets Strategy

1.1

On 28 November 2018, Licensing Committee approved the findings of an
intensive 12-week public consultation on the future of Westminster’s Street
Markets. Consultation on a draft strategy, and fees and charges options, ran

Page 13

from 6 August to 29 October 2018 and received almost 850 responses from
residents, traders and community groups.
1.2

Licensing Committee also approved proposals for revised application fees,
including concessions for start-up businesses and resident traders, waivers
for charitable or community organisations and a new daily charge for pitches.
The introduction of the new charge will be applied from 1st April 2019,
staggered over two years, to help traders prepare for the changes whilst
closing the current Council deficit.

1.3

The next steps will see the development of a new Street Markets Strategy.
The Strategy will draw heavily on the feedback received through the
consultation. This included strong support for improved sustainability,
opportunities for young people, improved online and social media promotion
and the provision of seating. Local plans will be produced for each market,
along with a performance framework. The final Strategy will be presented to
Licensing Committee in spring 2019.

2.

Business & Enterprise
Connect Westminster

2.1

The Connect Westminster Project has been running since August 2017,
providing SMEs in Westminster and the WEP area of Camden with vouchers
worth up to £2,000. This is to upgrade their broadband in order to future proof
gigabit capable connections. A total of £2.8m is available for this purpose,
partly funded through ERDF.
To date we have achieved the following:
Applications received
Funding allocated
Suppliers registered
Average download speed uplift
Average upload speed uplift

2.2

529 (153 connected to date)
£974,621.32
147
1,636%
9,327%

An evaluation has been commissioned to scrutinise what the impact the
scheme is having on the recipients’ productivity as well as creating case
studies on a number of the participants.

Page 14

Digital Street Markets
2.2

In November, a £1.2m European Regional Development Fund application was
submitted to support market traders and businesses to allow them to benefit
from trading online. If successful, the project will deliver a free Wi-Fi offer for
market traders to enable card payments on the market, free digital,
commercial training for traders and start-up support for new businesses. We
expect to hear whether the bid has been successful next month.
Westminster Enterprise Week

2.3

Westminster Enterprise Week 2018 took place from 12 – 18 November 2018
as an official partner of Global Entrepreneurship Campaign. The Business
Team has supported entrepreneurs to bring together an exciting schedule of
activities and experiences, including practical workshops, pitching sessions,
tours of industry workspaces, panel discussions, business challenges and
assemblies.

2.4

Westminster Enterprise Week provides an ideal opportunity to demonstrate
the excellent enterprise support and opportunities available to young people
within the Borough.
Young people engaged
Number of events
Attendees happy with events
Better understanding of business & enterprise

1,078
24
94%
88%

Schools engaged
Businesses engaged

9
28

A full evaluation of Westminster Enterprise Week is available on request.
Pop-Up Business School
2.5

The second Westminster Pop-Up Business School took place at Paddington
Arts between the 26 November and 7 December 2018. The event was
collectively funded by Derwent London, Octavia Housing Association,
Blenheim Drug and Alcohol support service and the City Council.

2.6

The Pop-Up school will deliver a further two-week programme expanding on
previously covered sessions. These will cover keeping customers, pitching
products and services, negotiation, website development and increasing
income.

Page 15

Number of attendees
Average number of days attended (max 10)
Percentage who are ready to trade following the course
Percentage who are almost ready to trade following the
course
Made a sale
Percentage of participants who were unemployed

148
6.4
30%
69%
21%
39%

A full evaluation of the Pop-Up Business School is available on request.
3.

Enterprise Space

3.1

Following the launch of Paddington Works in November 2018, the team
received 20 applications for the Resident Enterprise Development Scheme.
This is an offer to local residents of three months of free co-working space at
Paddington Works.

3.2

Pop-Hub enterprise space at Leicester Square continues its fit out. One floor
is currently occupied by a number of creative entrepreneurs. The co-working
space offers a desk at £65 a month, significantly below the market average.
The centre will be fully open in February. The space will provide 8,000 square
feet of affordable workspace.

3.4

The Council continues to facilitate enterprise space although as the market for
this develops, will take more of a facilitating role without being directly
involved in future shareholding. This plays to the Council’s strengths while
de-risking the programme.

4.

Youth Engagement

4.1

A large amount of activity is planned during Q4 of 2018/19. During this period
the following activities are planned:


Hospitality Week, will take place between 25 February and 8 March
2019. The intention is to raise awareness about the various careers
available to young people in the sector.



Westminster STEAM Week, will take place from the 11 to the 15 March
2019. This week will raise awareness of the opportunities in areas such
as Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and Maths. Partnering with
employers, the team will deliver a programme of events to showcase
these sectors.

Page 16



National Apprenticeship Week, will take place from 4 to the 8 March
2019. The programme will emphasise engaging employers on
apprenticeships.

5.

Westminster Employment Service (WES)

5.1

The Westminster Employment Service is on track to support 750
residents into employment in 2018/19. The actual figure up until November
2018 was 611 and over 200 further residents have been supported with work
placements and volunteering to assist them to progress into work. The
Service also supports residents with long-term health conditions, barriers to
work and, disabilities. The current average time our clients have been
unemployed before starting our programme is two years.

5.2

Innovation - Five Business Improvement Districts have expressed an interest
in co-designing a hospitality and careers project with the Council and have
committed over £175,000 for a new service, to be launched later in the spring.
The team will use the results from a City wide business survey. Isabelle
Bernard has been appointed as the interim project manager. Our aim is to
launch a service later in the spring and by May 2019.

5.3

Young People & NEETs - The WES, in collaboration with Children’s
Services, has re-established the NEET (not in education, employment or
training) panel. The panel’s role is to increase 16-18 participation in
education, employment or training. The Employment Service roles will coordinate the panels, cross check data and provide primary employment
pathways.

5.4

Learning & peer review event – On 12 December 2018, a HELP (Housing
Employment Learning Project) Peer Review event was held at Park Plaza
Hotel in Victoria. The day was introduced by the Leader of the Council.
Professor Nicholas Pleace, Director of the Institute of Housing Policy at the
University of York, reviewed the project and presented to National and Local
Housing and Employment Organisations from the UK and across Europe.
The audience included delegates from Malta, Lisbon, Belgium, Netherlands,
and Finland.

5.5

Social Value - Lauren Bailey has joined the team to help Council contractors
to meet their Social Value commitments. The team also completed the
process to appoint an operator to run the City Hall Café. A Social Enterprise
is our preferred supplier. The successful provider will be announced later in
January 2019. Our ambition is to create a Café that operates as a training

Page 17

facility. All staff will be paid the London Living Wage and support will be in
place to help people with barriers to work and disabilities. Our provider is also
committed to a no single use plastics policy and will host events in the
community to promote healthy eating. Participants will include with local
schools.
5.6

Mental Health & Employment – The team has designed a new employment
offer for residents with common or complex mental health problems with NHS
Trust. The new service will build on existing activity delivered across London’s
secondary mental health services and will involve integrating employment
specialists into primary care health teams. General Practitioners will be able
to refer to the service which will be live from April.

5.7

WES Case Study - Kieron De-Courci (Kie) is the Troubled Families
Employment Advisor (TFEA). He is employed by the DWP and is based at
Westminster City Council at Frampton Street and also at City of Westminster
College, at their Maida Vale Campus. Kie has regular caseload review
meetings with Will Miller, the Deputy Service Manager at Westminster
Employment Service. These review progress with the residents he works
with.

5.8

Below is a case study detailing Kie’s work with a resident which was well
received by his DWP colleagues as a case study at a recent conference. The
study demonstrates the joined-up nature of Kie’s work.
Persistence and working with partners yields results

5.9

Kie began working with Raja in November 2016. At the time Raja was
claiming Employment and Support Allowance. On returning to Jobseeker’s
Allowance, according to Kie, Raja experienced “a definite boost in
enthusiasm”. Kie started to see her at the Maida Vale Campus of City of
Westminster College, a convenient location for Raja. He initially referred her
to Get Set UK, for a catering role. Raja was not successful as it came to light
that she had a criminal record she had assumed was spent. Kie then put Raja
forward for a role with McDonald’s, again through Get Set UK. Unfortunately,
this role did not give her the flexibility she needed to meet her childcare
needs.

5.10

In December 2017, Kie referred Raja to Gingerbread, which provides single
parents with the skills and opportunities needed to gain employment.

5.11

Raja successfully completed their course and was subsequently put forward
for a job with Marks & Spencer’s in March. At 20 hours per week, this tied-in
well with her childcare commitments.

Page 18

5.12

After working for Marks & Spencer for a month, Raja decided to apply to
Caterlink for a dinner lady role as this better suited her childcare
commitments. With support from GetSet and Kie, she was successful.
However through no fault of her own, Raja fell into rent arrears. Kieon
attending a Homelessness and Employment Learning Project (HELP)
roundtable meeting raised Raja’s rent payment issues with a Senior Benefits
Policy Officer. The officer in question investigated further and promptly
resolved her rent arrears.

5.13

It has been quite a journey for Raja but with a successful conclusion. This
could not have been done without Kie’s ongoing support and the network of
professionals that he called upon - including Raja’s Work Coach, Pat
Cummings; additional support for her childcare needs; the HELP team;
GetSet and Gingerbread. This all round teamwork has led to a positive
transformation in Raja’s life.

5.14

Kie recently spoke to Raja who has been offered a permanent place in a
school. This has significantly boosted both her wellbeing and confidence.

6.

(WAES) Westminster Adult Education Service
London New Year’s Day Parade (LNYDP) 2019.

6.1

WAES led Westminster City Council’s float entry for the London’s New Year’s
Day Parade on 1 January 2019, titled ‘Westminster’s World in a Suitcase’.

6.2

Our float was inspired by the stories of people who have travelled to
Westminster, seeking a new future through employment, education and
housing or visiting famous landmarks. The float celebrated how the borough
supports people across the world, offering life-changing opportunities in their
‘City for All’. Our parade entry was a collaborative project with the innovative
storytelling company A World in a Suitcase leading the creative design and
DreamArts, who created songs and dances for the Parade. Both
organisations work to inspire and transform people’s lives through the arts.
Although, not the winning entry this year, the partnership work with the
organisations involved celebrated the diversity of the communities that we
work with and seek to engage positively.
Leader’s Christmas card

6.3

WAES learners on our community-based watercolour classes were given the
opportunity to design the Leader’s 2018 Christmas card. These learners are
all aged over 55. The winner and all learners who submitted entries attended
a reception hosted by the Lord Mayor, Councillor Lindsey Hall and the Leader
of Council, Councillor Nickie Aiken at which the winning entry was unveiled.

Page 19

6.4

These community classes promote lifelong learning, supports community
cohesion and helps to improve health and well-being. The winner in her press
release stated:
“I started the art classes provided by Westminster Council at a very difficult
time in my life. They are affordable and welcoming to everyone. I found that I
enjoy painting and it has tremendous benefits to my health - my blood
pressure went down and my spirits lifted. The teaching is excellent and being
in a class with others is great fun”.
2018-19 Update and Self-Assessment Report (SAR) 2017/18

6.5

WAES has had a busy start to the 2019 Spring Term. Doors opened on 2
January 2019 to welcome new learners and returning learners progressing to
the next stage of their programme. Our learner numbers at the end of the
autumn term had improved significantly compared to the same time last
academic year.

6.6

Our Self-Assessment Report (SAR) for 2017-18 will be submitted to Ofsted by
31 January 2019. We have self-assessed as “good” based on the outturn of
results last year and our assessment against the key judgements. This is a
good outcome, particularly balanced against the challenges with changes in
qualifications and funding methodology.

6.7

The launch of the WAES new strategic plan will be take place in February,
marking the start to a new way of delivering for all our stakeholders, with a
clear focus on ensuring that all our learners regardless of their starting points
are well supported to achieve their goals. More details to follow in the coming
weeks
Open events at WAES

6.8

The Service held two open events in November and December. The first open
event of the academic year was hosted at our Pimlico centre on 14 November.
This vibrant event set out our curriculum offer. Work from the Fashion,
Floristry and Graphic Design departments was showcased, to name just a
few, giving prospective learners the opportunity to ‘have-a-go’ and experience
hands-on learning. It was a lively evening with learners taking their next step
towards their career aims by taking advantage of the advice and guidance
available.

6.9

On 13 December 2018, the Lisson Grove open event celebrated learners’
enterprise skills with sales in Christmas floral displays and ceramics. The
curriculum displayed a broad variety of ‘have a go’ activities. Our learners with
learning disabilities and difficulties managed the refreshment stand and
served visitors a complementary hot chocolate and mince pie.

Page 20

6.10

The next event is on Saturday 2 February 2019 and will be held at the Lisson
Grove centre. Doors open at 10am and close at 2pm. The campaign for the
event is ‘Love learning’ where learners will be able to enrol on new
programmes and progress from one level onto the next.
Community and Family Learning

6.11

The WAES Family and Community Learning team has a wide reaching
delivery across Westminster, and is involved in many projects.

6.12

This year WAES is working in partnership with 21 organisations across
Westminster, delivering 31 community learning funded projects. Our key
focus for this round of funding was on Health and Wellbeing and Digital
Inclusion Learning projects for hard to reach learners based in Westminster.
Outlined below is an overview of some of the projects:
The West End Community Trust
(a)

Project: Smartphone

6.13

To enable older and long term unemployed people better understand the
functionality of their smart phones and tablets so that they can fully utilise the
capabilities of the device.

6.14

To increase community cohesion by recruiting volunteer tutors from the local
business community and the local Soho Parish School.
(b)

Church Army - Marylebone Project

Project name: Pathway to Independence
6.15

To equip the women with the knowledge and the tools needed to recognise
potential threats that could put their personal life at risk in different
contexts.

6.16

The project will support the women’s journey towards living an independent
life and to develop awareness and confidence. In particular, it will focus on
delivering life skills sessions around: Self-defence, Sexual Health, Street
Safety, Safeguarding, Domestic Violence Awareness, Drug & Alcohol and
Harm minimisation, CyberSafety, Fraud Awareness and Healthy
Relationships.
c)

WAES Family Learning:

Project name: FRED - Fathers Reading Every Day
6.17

This is a Family Learning literacy project with Edward Wilson School,
encouraging fathers to read with their children every night and as a result
improve their reading age and attainment.

Page 21

d)

Maida Hill Place

Project name: The Big Eat III
6.18

Courses will prepare participants for paid work in the catering industry; setting
up a market-based food business; and encourage further study for a City &
Guilds cooking qualification. Particular emphasis will be placed on the
underlying nutritional value of food with an introduction to plant-based menus.
e) Greenhouse Sports
Project name: Just for Women

6.19

Weekly workshops to provide local female residents aged 19+ from the
Church Street ward with the opportunity to take part in regular physical activity
in a safe, fun and female-only environment.

7.

Education and Schools
School inspections

7.1

Since the last scrutiny meeting three Ofsted inspection reports have been
published for the following schools: Ark Paddington Green Academy, Barrow
Hill Junior School and the Dorothy Gardner Centre. The quality of education
at both Ark Paddington Green and Barrow Hill Junior was judged to be good
with significant strengths. The Barrow Hill report commends the impact of
leadership in the school: ‘(the headteacher), the governing body and the
senior leadership team have together created a culture of continuing
improvement. This is seen in pupils’ very strong progress in reading, writing
and mathematics, and across the wider curriculum’.

7.2

The Ark Paddington Green Academy report also recognises the quality of
school leadership and the high quality professional development ‘The quality
of staff training and development is exemplary. This made a significant
contribution to improving the quality of teaching and pupils’ outcomes.’ In
recent years the education service has worked closely with both schools to
provide appropriate support, challenge and advice and help to bring about
these outcomes. This included close joint working with the school’s governing
body as they developed a plan to convert to academy status with Ark in 2018
in order to improve standards.

7.3

The report on Dorothy Gardner judges the school to be requiring
improvement. Under the leadership of the new executive head teacher and
with the support of the education service an action plan is in place to address
the areas for improvement that were highlighted in the inspection. A new
school improvement board is in place, led by the newly appointed chair of
governors, and an external governance review is underway. The inspectors
recognised the positive impact of the new executive headteacher in taking
forward the school: ‘(He) is ambitious for the children at the school. He has

Page 22

provided a renewed sense of direction and motivated staff, governors and
parents and carers. This is now having a positive impact on the pace of
improvement’
7.4

The current percentage of schools in Westminster judged to be good and
outstanding is 95% compared to the national average of 86%.
Early Years Update

7.5

An independent operational review was undertaken of the two sovereign early
years’ teams in Westminster and RBKC between July and October 2018. Both
councils, whilst committed to delivering improved outcomes for children and
young people are under increased financial pressure with reduced funding
from Central Government. In particular, there is a need to future proof
services for 0-5 year olds and build a high quality network of provision, as well
as further develop and protect extended wrap around provision for 0-14 year
olds (25 years with SEND).

7.6

The outcome of the review recommended the integration of the two early
years teams into one Bi-Borough Childcare & Early Education Service to
facilitate streamlined leadership and management and a more integrated
approach to providing sufficient good quality early years provision and
childcare across the whole early years sector including schools for 0-14 year
olds.

7.7

It was acknowledged that there is insufficient understanding of the current
childcare market to enable identification of gaps in provision and the potential
for growth particularly around school age childcare.
Background & Rationale for change

7.8

In March 2018 the dissolution of Tri-Borough arrangements and the move to
new Bi-Borough Children’s Services resulted in an opportunity to look at and
clarify current roles and responsibilities within the two Early Years Teams in
WCC and RBKC and their operational functions. The landscape for early
years nationally has changed with the introduction of the Early Years Funding
Formula (EYFF), implementation of 30 hours free childcare for working
parents of 3 & 4 year olds from September 2017 and uncertainty surrounding
the future funding of maintained nurseries.

7.9

The statutory duties placed upon each local authority set out in Childcare Act
(2006) and Children & Families Act (2014) will be met in full by offering a
more integrated service through more collaborative working with partners in
Social Care, Education and Health; and by creating greater synergy between
all providers of Childcare and Early Education. The review recommendations

Page 23

will support both boroughs in increasing the number of children achieving a
good level of development (GLD) at age 5. Moving forward, the service will in
partnership with School Standards focus on raising attainment for the most
disadvantaged children and narrowing the gap between the attainment of
children eligible for Free School Meals and those who are not.
Next Steps
7.10

A 30-day staff consultation will be launched on 8 January 2019 and will run
until the 8 February 2019. The consultation process should be completed and
the results finalised by the 15 February 2019 at which point the new BiBorough Childcare & Early Years Structure will be published.
Update on the expansion works at King Solomon Academy

7.11

The expansion of King Solomon Academy to provide 150 extra secondary
school places over a five- year period has moved a step closer with the
appointment of Morgan Sindall under a Pre-Contract Services Agreement.
Works are due to begin this term to refurbish Ark Paddington Green so that
primary pupils across both sites can start there in September 2019, at which
point work will begin at KSA to provide the additional secondary places. The
scheme will be completed by September 2020. The new schools will provide
three forms of entry throughout. Ark Paddington Green will also get a new
nursery in a separate building and, at a later stage, a new MUGA. KSA will
benefit from a new dining hall by enclosing what is currently an open atrium.
ARK are also contributing £1.1M towards the project.
Progress with delivery of the WCC SEND Strategy

7.12

A new SEND strategy and action plan was launched in April 2018, alongside
a complex Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Westminster. There has
been good progress since then:







The views of children, young people and parents are being captured
through the Parent Carer Forum, working groups and surgeries feeding
into CFA board.
We provided schools with guidance on their statutory duties in readiness
for the new academic year in September 2019.
We developed a quality assurance framework – in the absence of a
national framework – meaning more EHCP are good quality aligning this
with the increase in the number of plans completed in 20 weeks.
A focused audit has taken place of looked-after children with EHCPs and
an audit of home-educated children with EHCPs will take place shortly.

Page 24

7.13

For the Local Offer a rigorous self-evaluation is in place, regularly updated
and published on the Local Offer website. A Bi-Borough Local Offer Steering
Group oversees delivery of an Action Plan that is owned by a dedicated Local
Offer Coordinator. The Group is co-chaired by parents from WCC and RBKC
and includes officers from Education, Health, Social Care and Adults
Services.

7.14

Local Offer Parent Champions operate in Westminster, supporting the
promotion of the website through community connections. We are also
working with local schools to develop and promote good practice.
New Supported Internship offer from September 2019

7.15

As part of our commitment to support young people with special educational
needs and disabilities in their preparation for adulthood, our Education and
Economy teams are working together to develop a Westminster Supported
Internship programme, which will be delivered with local partners, including
City of Westminster College from September 2019.

7.16

Supported Internships give young people aged 16-24 with special educational
needs and disabilities real-life work opportunities to develop their work-related
skills, including qualifications, with the intention that this could lead to
permanent employment. They are structured study programmes delivered by
further education providers, however, they are based primarily at an employer
and most of the learning is undertaken in work placements. While in a
placement, the interns receive support from a Job Coach, while employers are
given training and support so that they can effectively mentor the young
people that they are working with. Interns on our programme will work in three
placements during the academic year and, as the lead employer, Westminster
City Council is planning to provide a wide range of placements across the
organisation.

7.17

Over the coming months, we will be developing and finalising the details the
programme, including the specific work placements that the Council will be
offering. We will also be promoting the programme with local families,
delivering open days and undertaking the recruitment process for potential
interns. We will continue to update the Committee as this progresses.

Page 25

Schools funding announced for 2019-20
7.18

Additional Funding for High Needs and Dedicated Schools Grant Settlement
2019/20
On 17 December 2018 the Secretary of State (SoS) for Education announced
additional revenue funding in 2018-19 and 2019-20, and extra capital funding
in 2019-20, to provide support for children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities (SEND), as well as the 2019-20 Dedicated
Schools Grant (DSG) allocations to local authorities (LAs).

7.19

Additional Funding for Children and Young People with SEND
Concerns have been raised by schools, colleges and LAs about the pressures
on high needs budgets where the costs are rising. Additional high needs
funding allocations were announced across all local authorities, of £125
million in each of 2018-19 and 2019-20. The allocation for Westminster City
Council is £481,248 for both 2018-19 and 2019-20 which will go towards the
current 2018/19 annual forecast overspend on the high needs block of
£621,000. A further £100 million top-up to the Special Provision Capital Fund
in 2019-20 was announced. This additional funding will provide more SEND
places in schools and colleges.

7.20

To support LAs in carrying out their statutory EHC plan assessment process
and to support schools and colleges in their work with families, funding was
announced for training more Educational Psychologists (EPs), to reflect
increased demand. Classroom teachers and those in training will also have a
greater focus on supporting children with SEND.
DFE Settlement 2019/20

7.21

The distribution of the DSG to local authorities is set out in four blocks for
each authority: a schools block, a high needs block, an early years block, and
the central school services block.

7.22

Table 1 shows the published final 2019-20 allocations of Schools Block
funding, Central Schools Services block funding and High Needs block
funding compared to 2018/19. The initial allocation for the early years block is
included.

Page 26

Table 1 – Provisional NFF and DSG in 2019/20
Block
2018/19
2019/20
Schools
£112.414m
£112.171m
High Needs *
Additional
High
Needs
Funding
17/12/18
Central
School
Services
Early Years**
Total

Change
-£0.243m

% Change
-0.22% / +1%
per pupil
+2.96%
All
additional
funding

£25.151m
£0.481m

£25.896m
£0.481m

+£0.745m
-

£1.120m

£1.086m

-£0.034m

-3.04%

£13.396
£152.562m

£13.491m
£153.125m

+£0.095m
+£0.563m

+0.71%
+0.37%

Allocation is before deduction for academies
*before deductions for High Needs Places
** Early years 2019/20 allocation is the initial allocation
7.23

The provisional schools block funding is £112.171m based on 18,382 pupils
which is a reduction of 204 pupils (minus 460 primary pupils and plus 256
secondary pupils). This is a 1% per pupil increase. Primary schools with
falling rolls will need to consider how to set balanced budgets and the
education finance team will support them.
Passenger Transport

7.24

The procurement for Passenger Transport minibus service is due to be
launched in January 2019. The service provides for children with special
educational needs eligible for travel assistance to school or college, and
vulnerable adults travelling to day activities as part of their social care
provision. The new service has been designed incorporating feedback from
consultation and engagement and provides an opportunity to formalise
service improvements for better contract management.

7.25

The new contracts will be jointly procured with the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea. Contract award recommendations are expected in
May 2019, for contracts to be awarded in June 2019. This will enable
successful providers time to work with the Council, partners, parents, carers,
schools and day centres to ensure a smooth transition to new arrangements.
Successful providers will be required to take into account the individual needs
of each service user and offer ‘meet and greets’ to service users and families
in advance of the service commencing.

7.26

The service will commence for vulnerable adults in August 2019 and eligible
children from September 2019.

Page 27

School Meals
7.27

There are currently 34 primary schools in Westminster provided with a school
Meals service from a centrally managed contract which is due to end in April
2019, with provisions to extend the contract further if required. A review and
consultation exercise took place with schools, parents and pupils to
understand the strengths and shortcomings of the current school meals
contracts and to help inform recommendations on future options.

7.28

The broad themes of the engagement feedback are that while some schools
are happy with the service, for others the service is not performing to
expected standards despite there having been some improvements. Most
schools expressed a wish to recommission the provision themselves to
achieve a more bespoke service that is responsive to their requirements. Out
of 34 schools, 32 have opted-in to extend the existing contract for 12 months
up to April 2020.

7.29

The extension will enable service continuity while giving schools the
opportunity to design and buy school Meals service that meets their
requirements. Schools have already begun forming clusters to enable them to
benefit from economies of scales and shape the service according to their
agreed requirements and priorities.

7.30

The Council is offering a programme of information, advice and guidance to
support schools. This includes an overview guide, sharing best practice from
other schools and facilitated workshops with expert speakers.
Trailblazer Site: Young People’s Mental Health School Support Teams

7.31

The government published a Green Paper in December 2017 to develop
plans for improving emotional wellbeing and mental health support for children
and young people. Following a highly competitive national bid process, West
London CCG (NHS), in partnership with MIND and the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC)/Westminster City Council (WCC), have
been chosen to be part of the first wave of Trailblazer sites for the new Mental
Health Schools Support Teams.
The programme will cover the West London CCG catchment area which
consists of all of RBKC and wards in North Westminster above the Harrow
Road.

Page 28

7.32

The Trailblazer programme will provide a significant enhancement to local
emotional wellbeing services for children and young people 5-18 years. The
programme is fully funded for the first 2 ¼ years. The new service will be
provided by MIND, the mental health charity, and will be targeted at low to
moderate mental health needs working alongside existing CAMHS services.
The programme consists of two new teams totalling 16 specialist child
emotional wellbeing and mental health staff. Staff in the new service will
participate in a specialist emotional wellbeing training programme and will be
placed within the schools setting. Schools eligible for the programme will be
expected to appoint a mental health lead and asked to host a trainee
beginning in late March 2019. The teams are expected to be fully operational
by December 2019.
Update on Speech and Language Therapy Services

7.33

Commissioners have been in discussions with counterparts in the CCG to
agree a revised costing model for Speech and Language Therapy across
Westminster and Kensington & Chelsea to better reflect the statutory
responsibilities of both organisations. A breakdown of areas of responsibility
are set out below. These will be subject to a formal agreement or contract with
the CCG.
Service

Funding
responsibility

Early Years
Universal and Targeted
CCG
Support and training for early years settings and parents
Specialist


Assessment of all children 0-5 with SLCN
 Treatment of all children 0-5 with SLCN where speech and
language therapy is not specified in Section F of an EHC Plan.
Specialist
Treatment of all children with speech and language therapy
specified in Section F of an EHC Plan.

CCG

LA

Specialist
LA / CCG
Treatment of all children in Reception Year

Page 29

Education
Universal
Range of training courses to support identification of children with
SLCN.

CCG / LA

Targeted
SALT support to schools to support a whole-system approach to
children’s communication

LA / Schools

Specialist
LA
Delivery of all SALT specified in Section F of EHC Plans
Specialist


Delivery of all SALT specified in Section G of EHC Plans
 Delivery of health-related interventions such as dysphagia or
dysfluency
 ASD diagnosis service

CCG

7.34

The next step will be to formally agree this position with the CCG and finalise
the demand based cost model that has been developed in conjunction with
this agreement. This in turn will form the basis of a financial agreement with
the CCG that will outline the funding of the Speech and Language Service
going forward.

7.35

Furthermore, contract arrangements for speech, language and
communication needs are being refreshed from April 2019 in line with the
current contract end. It is not anticipated that there will be a new provider at
this time or that there will be major disruption to existing provision, however,
there will be an increased focus on developing a more graduated offer of
support. Under the new arrangements the Local Authority will be the lead
commissioners for the school age Speech and Language Therapy Service
and the Clinical Commissioning Group (Health) will be the leads for the early
years’ service. Both the Local Authority and CCG will continue to oversee the
provision jointly.

7.36

The key new areas of focus for the specification are:

Page 30



Building on the existing training offer and support to schools to directly
deliver a stronger early intervention targeted offer, and;



Looking at the interface between the early years’ service and the school
age service to improve school transitions for children and young people.

Some of the recent developments within the service including:

8.



A range of training opportunities available to schools, practitioners and
parents from the Therapy Service and the Westminster Training and
Outreach Team to support the development of a whole-system approach
to speech, language and communication;



A termly newsletter from the Speech and Language Therapy Service;



Waiting times in early years having significantly improved for pre-school
children meaning they are receiving intervention earlier (within 6 weeks
for the majority of children), and;



The first of a series of dedicated speech, language and communication
focused session was held in October at the SENCO forum to support
best-practice sharing.

Sports and Leisure
ActiveWestminster Awards 2018

8.1

In December 2018, 220 guests gathered at Lords Cricket Ground to celebrate
the achievements of all those that contribute to Physical Activity, Leisure and
Sport in Westminster. Guests and award finalists were joined by the Lord
Mayor and sporting celebrities to announce the winners across 10 award
categories. The 2018 awards received a total of 170 nominations and an
increased number of unique nominations than 2017 (unique nominations
equate to different individuals). 220 guests attended the awards in total, which
is on a par with 2017.

8.2

Engagement on Twitter surpassed the amount of traffic/communications from
2017 and we used Instagram this year for the first time. 3,475 accounts were
reached on Instagram with over 300 viewers (not followers).

8.3

The team have already started to consider lessons learnt and will be
considered the 2019 event in the next couple of months to mark the 10 th year
anniversary of these highly successful awards.

Page 31

Chelsea Barracks Sports Centre
8.4

The legal agreements for the Sports Centre have now been finalised and the
planning reserve matters approved demonstrating good progress has been
achieved given the size and complexity of the wider Programme. There is a
requirement to fund the future fit-out works for the leisure centre, which is
currently scheduled to start construction in Q3 2023 and complete and open
in Q4 2026 and ensure it is accounted for with the General Fund Capital
Budget.

8.5

The provisional sum forecast is £6m based on the works carried out by the
Cost Consultants Paragon last year and includes indexation. The project has
a notification mechanism 24 months, prior to implementation so further details
will be provided nearer the time, once final dates and costs are finalised in
that period leading up to construction. Growth, Planning and Housing
colleagues are liaising with Finance on this issue. Officers have also
registered an interest to apply for CIL funding to fund two moveable floors in
the swimming pools and this will be progressed as detailed design evolves.
The Developer is indicating good progress is being made with other phases of
the project and there may be an opportunity to deliver the community facilities
earlier than predicted. This will need to be considered in further detail in the
coming months.
Paddington Recreation Ground – Playground Works

8.6

The children’s playground at Paddington Recreation Ground is currently
undergoing a major renewal following consultation last year as the previous
playground required refurbishment to ensure continued safety and
engagement of users. Following the consultation period, Ruth Willmott
Associates (RWA) along with the winning bidder, Playscheme, produced
designs incorporating feedback from playground users to create a wholly
redesigned space for play. The new designs promote play that is inclusive,
and challenging where appropriate, whilst also being safe and fun.
RWA/Playscheme’s design has a strong focus on nature and use of natural
materials, and introduces children to new concepts for play.

8.7

Although there is no firm delineation between age groups in the play area,
there is a transition from facilities suitable for very young children to those
suitable for older children, and plenty of points at which parents can observe
and even participate. The works have begun and are expected to conclude by
end of Spring 2019.

Page 32

9.

Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS)
VCS Support Contract

9.1

The Voluntary and Community Sector Support Service, which One
Westminster are contracted to deliver, acts as a conduit between the City
Council and the large and complex range of organisations that make up
Westminster’s Voluntary and Community Sector. It also supports the sector in
a wide variety of ways, such as facilitating networking; promoting and
advocating on behalf of the sector; and enabling access to training,
infrastructure support and other useful resources.

9.2

The Policy and Strategy team, which manages the VCS Support contract, is
working with several other council teams to ensure that One Westminster’s
contribution complements other work streams aimed at delivering social
impact, e.g. the council’s wider work on employment and skills, business
engagement, the Heart of the City initiative, our Responsible Procurement
approach and the Lion Awards.

9.3

A key area for potential development is this contractor’s involvement in our
Corporate Social Responsibility agenda – this may include development of a
CSR ‘brokerage’ service, to connect local businesses with charities in their
immediate area, which was introduced as part of the new contract
specification last year.

9.4

One Westminster are also heavily involved in our wider Community Strategy
work – see below.
Westminster Advice Services (WASP contract)

9.5

A full procurement procedure took place last year to recommission
Westminster’s advice services, which provide information and guidance for
residents on a wide range of issues, from benefits and housing to health,
wellbeing and employment. The new contract absorbs Licensing Advice, the
Public Health-commissioned Advice Plus service and debt advice previously
provided by CityWest Homes to their residents into the overall service
specification.

9.6

The new specification focuses on outcomes, ongoing service development
and effective partnership working between the contract provider and a wide
range of local stakeholders including health partners and VCS organisations.
Areas of focus for 2019 will include support for EU nationals living in
Westminster who have concerns about their status in the run up to Brexit.
Note there is a dedicated helpline for this - the new low- cost number is: 0300

Page 33

330 9011. The telephone service is available on Tuesdays and Thursdays 11am – 2pm.
10.

Libraries
Priorities for the libraries and archives service, 2019/20

10.1

Priorities in the Libraries and Archives 2018/19 business plan included
improving the libraries’ working culture and a renewed focus on promoting
reading as part of the service’s purpose to help people to Read, Learn,
Connect. It is intended that the foundations of a motivated and purposeful
team will enable the delivery of the service operating model and future
strategy. Evidence to suggest the success of the approach is emerging, and
includes an 11% rise in the staff engagement index in the council’s staff
engagement survey Our Voice. Successes with the renewed focus on
supporting and promoting reading include the launch of the new Library App.

10.2

A new business planning approach for the service has been implemented for
2019/20, which harnesses the knowledge of staff from across the service.
The first draft of the plan for 2019/20 will be completed by 1 March 2019, and
shared with key stakeholders for comment, ready for its implementation from
1 April 2019. This is linked in to the Council’s medium term financial strategy
and the business planning process in the wider City Management and
Communities directorate, of which libraries and archives are part.
Overview

10.3

The library service is delivered through a shared arrangement with
Hammersmith and Fulham, and Kensington and Chelsea. The service vision
is to support everyone in Westminster to read, learn and connect – with each
other, communities and the Council. The Council remains committed to
keeping its libraries open and accessible to all.
Key/Current Issues
Key challenges and risks include:
•

Changes in customer demand resulting in requirements for new digital
services to be provided alongside existing print and analogue formats,
which may increase costs although there are also opportunities for
more efficient provision.

•

Increasingly diverse use of library spaces, and potential for conflict
between differing needs and uses

Page 34

•

Cost of maintaining busy public buildings such as libraries to an
appropriate standard.

•

Declining income from traditional sources such as charges for overdue
books and loan of CDs, and the need to develop new sources of
funding that are complementary to residents’ expectations of what
libraries are for

Marylebone library
10.4

A feasibility study to determine the deliverability of the revised scheme to
reopen the disused larger pool at Seymour Leisure Centre, which would
require changes to the proposals for the library is under consideration, with a
decision expected by the end of January 2019. Subject to approval a
timeframe for engagement and consultation will be revised. The revised
scheme will provide a better outcome for residents, with a much enhanced
leisure offer and a slightly larger space for the library, which would be
allocated over 1000 m2 in an integrated design.
Seymour Leisure Centre/New Marylebone Library

10.5

Following public consultation regarding potential works to the small pool it was
agreed in the summer to carry out a feasibility exercise to ascertain whether it
would be possible to remodel the existing Seymour Leisure Centre and build a
main 25m pool and teaching pool where the existing sports hall is currently
located. The sports hall would be moved to a new mezzanine floor to be
constructed above the pool hall.

10.6

iCON Building Consultancy have completed their feasibility report for the
remodelling of Seymour Leisure Centre as well as incorporating a bigger
library with its own entrance on Bryanston Place. The report indicates that the
project is deliverable in terms of construction but flags that this is subject to
listed building consent being achieved. Pre-application advice from the
Conservation Officer has indicated that if there is a strong case from users
and stakeholders for introducing the mezzanine floor then it is more likely to
be accepted. It should be noted that there is precedent for similar schemes
being approved and successfully delivered and iCON have experience in this
particular specialism. A project team workshop took place on 12 December
2018 to discuss the findings and progress design issues as well as look at
governance, procurement and stakeholder engagement. Following the
workshop iCON are amending the plans to reflect feedback particularly
relating to the operational management and design of the library.

Page 35

10.7

The key issue on this project will be seeking Cabinet Member approval to
proceed and to find the shortfall in capital funding required to deliver the
project, addressing the planning and heritage issues and bringing together the
internal project team to deliver a scheme that is a success for both services.
Community Services are working closely with Libraries, Growth, Planning and
Housing and Finance colleagues and will present a draft Cabinet Member
Report at the February Capital Review Group (CRG) for consideration. If the
report findings are approved by the CRG then the Cabinet Member Report will
be formally submitted to the Cabinet Members for approval in March.
Consideration is being given to stakeholder communications, further rounds of
engagement and consultation will need to be planned in the coming months
ahead of planning and listed building application submissions later this year.
Move to BiBorough library service

10.8

In December 2018, Hammersmith and Fulham council signalled it wanted to
end the agreement for a shared TriBorough library service after six years of
working together. Westminster City Council, together with Kensington and
Chelsea, indicated that they will form a BiBorough library and archive service
in place of the current arrangements.

10.9

The aim will be for a seamless transition to new arrangements, with any
impacts on library service users minimised. A project team is being set up to
manage the transition, and timescales, milestones and arrangements for staff
will be agreed between the three boroughs as part of the process. Useful
feedback from the disaggregation of other services from Tri to BiBorough
provision is being studied.
Libraries advisory board

10.10 The Council established an advisory board in 2017 to advise it on the long
term future for libraries in Westminster and to assist in the formulation of a
long term strategy. The board is chaired by Chris Cotton DL, and concluded
its programme of visits and evidence-gathering in early autumn.
10.11 A draft report is now nearing completion, and is expected for publication in
early spring, accompanied by a programme of engagement with library
service users, residents, stakeholders and staff.
Registration Service
10.12 The service continues to seek new ways to maximise income and is trialling
the extended use of Old Marylebone Town Hall as a venue for hire for events
in addition to weddings and ceremonies, on a commercial basis. The service

Page 36

has also introduced a facility for wedding customers to book their ceremony
room for an additional hour for a drinks reception immediately after their
ceremony. These new initiatives are being evaluated on a trial basis for
impact and viability, and will be extended if they prove popular and provide an
additional income to support overall targets.

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Economic Development,
Education, Community and
Place Shaping Policy Scrutiny
Committee
Date:

Wednesday 30 January 2019

Portfolio:

Cabinet Member for Place Shaping and Public
Realm

Briefing Author and
Contact Details:

Councillor Richard Beddoe
rbeddoe@westminster.gov.uk
0207 641 5772

1.

The City Plan

1.1

A new draft City Plan was issued for informal consultation on 12 November
until 21 December. The new draft Plan is the result of a complete review of the
adopted City Plan (2016) and saved Unitary Development Plan policies (2007)
and will create a single, up to date local plan to management development in
Westminster. It also revisits the strategic direction of Westminster’s planning
policies and ensures the City Plan is aligned with City for All objectives and is
fit for purpose into the next decades.

1.2

Our draft City Plan contains numerous new proposed planning policies. I detail
below some of the headline changes.

1.3

In the area of housing we have made several changes so that our policies
match the ambition we have for delivering more housing in our city. We have
increased our overall housing delivery target to a 1,495 new homes per year.
Of this housing we would expect an increased proportion (35%) to be
affordable and this affordable housing to be split between 60% intermediate
and 40% social provision. This particular change reflects the scarcity of
intermediate housing in our City – while 25% of our housing stock is social
housing, less than 2% is intermediate. We are also simplifying our mixed use
policy so that only affordable housing is required to be provided and the

Page 39

exemption from this policy for hotel development is removed. Finally, we are
proposing a floorspace upper limit on new homes so that space in
Westminster is used efficiently to give our city the housing we need.

1.4

Our proposed policies will allow for more flexibility in designated shopping
centres to allow more leisure and entertainment uses. This will complement
the existing retail offer and address the challenge to our high streets posed by
the rise of online shopping. In order to further support economic growth we will
also encourage the creation of a range of new workspaces of different types
and sizes. We will replace our current Core CAZ (Central Activities Zone)
designation with a more effective West End Retail and Leisure Special Policy
Area designation and closer alignment of the CAZ boundary with the Mayor’s
CAZ.

1.5

The new City Plan overhauls our current design policies, simplifying them, with
just one over-arching design principles policy supported by six more detailed
subject specific design and heritage policies, such as a simplified basements
policy. We will also require developments to be ‘neighbourly’ and demonstrate
how they will minimise the impact of works on the surrounding area and its
communities.

1.6

In terms of specific areas of the city we have created a new policy on the
Church Street/Edgware Road and Ebury Bridge Housing Regeneration Areas
within the spatial strategy of the plan to support and guide the housing
renewal here and emphasise the importance of this site for the growth of the
city. We have also proposed combining the St James’s and Mayfair Special
Policy Areas owing to strong similarities between both policies and the
proximity of the areas. Finally, this plan proposed the creation of a new special
policy area designation to protect Soho’s unique function and character. The
policy protects workspace for small and medium enterprises, specialist
retailing, food, drink and entertainment uses and restricts the size of new
hotels.

Page 40

1.7

In addition to these key areas our City Plan contains policies to promote our
environmental aspirations, manage irresponsible shisha premises, clarify our
approach to building height and support our evening economy.

1.8

During the consultation, officers undertook over 40 engagement events with
our stakeholders including neighbourhood forums, amenity societies, Business
Improvement Districts, the Greater London Authority and the development
industry. These events were primarily a listening and explaining exercise to
gather initial thoughts on the draft policies and explain the rationale behind
them. The consultation attracted 179 responses. This is a high number of
responses for a consultation of this type and reflects the pro-active
engagement the Council undertook during the consultation period.

1.9

Initial feedback indicates that a fresh approach to planning policy, and in
particular the more streamlined approach to the policies, is very welcome. The
scale and ambition of the plan received positive comments from a range of
stakeholders. More flexible policies relating to retail are seen as reflecting a
positive and pragmatic approach to the problems the high streets face, many
stakeholders welcome the setting of a higher housing target to deliver much
needed homes, as well as a higher affordable housing target.

1.10

Some respondents did ask for further assurances or changes to the heritage
and design policies, car parking, mixed used thresholds and the maximum
size of new homes. We are now reviewing all of the responses provided and
assessing how best to respond to the feedback, either via tweaking our
policies, clarifying details or reassuring stakeholders on the issues they raised.

1.11

Following this process there will be another round of formal consultation
known as ‘Regulation 19’, after which the policies will be further refined. We
will then submit the plan to the Secretary of State and begin the formal
examination in public process. At the end of the process the Inspector will
determine if the plan is sound. Assuming the plan is found to be sound, we
hope to adopt the new City Plan late 2019/early 2020.

Page 41

2.

Oxford Street

2.1

Since the last update we have undertaken a public consultation exercise for
the Oxford Street District Draft Place Strategy and Delivery Plan. The public
consultation took place from 6 November to 16 December and provided
stakeholders with a variety of channels to be informed and respond to the
consultation including: bespoke website, dedicated inbox, online survey, one
to one meetings with key stakeholders, and consultation events throughout the
six week period of consultation.

2.2.

This was one of the largest consultations undertaken by the Council and also
received one of the highest responses when compared to other consultations
undertaken in recent years.

2.3

An independent firm has been appointed to undertake the analysis of the
survey results and will be providing a report that will be appended to the
upcoming Cabinet Report outlining the results.

2.4

The project team are reviewing the consultation results provided via the online
survey and the letters also received which provided more detailed feedback.
The draft Place Strategy and Delivery Plan will be updated to reflect any
appropriate changes suggested by stakeholders and will be appended to the
upcoming Cabinet Report. The Cabinet Report will outline the results and the
changes to the updated Place Strategy and Delivery Plan.

3.

Planning Review

3.1

Last year Cabinet approved in principle measures to make the planning
service more proactive, transparent and focused on delivery of our wider City
for All strategy. Since then we have undertaken a wide consultation exercise
on these proposed changes and how best to implement them.

3.2

In particular, we have developed suggested mechanisms to allow members of
the public to speak at planning sub-committee meetings. These will take effect

Page 42

from the first sub-committee meeting at the newly refurbished building at 64
Victoria Street. It is also proposed to facilitate live-streaming/recording of subcommittee, following the purchase and testing of the equipment needed.

3.3

Briefly, our recommendation for facilitating speaking at committee meetings
are as follows. Those wishing to speak at a sub-committee meeting must
register their wish to do so by noon on the Friday before the meeting. At the
Planning (Major) Applications Sub-Committees our proposal is to allow a
maximum of two speakers for and two against the proposal; for Planning
Applications Sub-Committees 1, 2 and 3, this will be one speaker on either
side. Where more people request to speak than the number outlined above,
we will encourage the parties involved to agree between themselves who will
speak or to share the time between them; should this not be possible we
propose using a ballot system to determine who speaks. Each speaker will
ordinarily be permitted a total of three minutes to speak. In addition, a
speaking slot will be provided for the local amenity society to speak should
they so wish. Ward councillors will also be allowed to make verbal
representations.

3.4

The new Director for Place Shaping and Planning will be reviewing preapplication community engagement and delegated authority, and will report to
both me and Planning and City Development Committee in due course.

3.5

We will review the functioning of this system for speakers continually with a
more formal review after 6 months. The above recommendations regarding
public speaking have now been endorsed by Planning and City Development
Committee and we are proceeding with their implementation.

4.

Queensway

4.1

Following my approval of the proposals, works are expected to begin on the
first phase of this project on 21 January. A notification of works letter has
been sent to all affected properties and businesses in the area and ward
councillors and amenity societies have been notified. The first phase of works

Page 43

are on the western footway between Moscow Road and Porchester Gardens.
The second phase from Moscow Road to 71 Queensway, outside the
Sainsburys Local (including the crossing area outside Bayswater London
Underground Station) will be undertaken from 8 March 2019 to 11 April 2019.
It is possible that the construction dates might slip for operational reasons, e.g.
weather delays, but the methodology of carrying out the work is not expected
to change. If this is the case, all affected businesses and residents will be
forewarned.

5.

Community Infrastructure Levy

5.1

The Council has now collected £35.750m of CIL since the Charging Schedule
came into effect in May 2016. This represents a further £5.538m collected
since my last report.

5.2

The Cabinet CIL Committee met on 5 December 2018, where it approved
funding of £3.262m towards 12 infrastructure projects from the Council’s
strategic portion of CIL funds, bringing the total amount allocated to £17.304m.
The majority of these projects are public realm improvements to improve the
pedestrian environment and road safety at various locations in the city.

5.3

The largest allocation in this round of funding was £0.977m for the Church
Street Triangle project, which will be matched by funding from the GLA’s Good
Growth Fund. The project seeks to transform the ‘Triangle’, where Church
Street meets Salisbury Street, to deliver flexible space for enterprise, arts,
public events and community uses, support the existing cultural and business
offer and strengthening the historic market. Physical interventions will allow
innovation in design and use of the space, setting the tone for the delivery of
the Church Street regeneration programme as a whole and ensuring that the
community benefits from the regeneration in the immediate future.

5.4

Furthermore, the Committee agreed the process for allocating the
neighbourhood portion of CIL, allowing the neighbourhood forums and other
community groups to apply for these funds. This neighbourhood portion

Page 44

represents approximately 15% of the total amount of CIL collected from
development in each designated neighbourhood area. Officers are working on
finalising the relevant documentation and the neighbourhood forums and other
community groups will then be contacted to advise them of the bidding
process. A briefing will also be sent to ward members to advise them of their
role in this process.

6.

Telephone Boxes and Advertising

6.1

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government has now closed
its consultation into Permitted Development Rights. The Council responded to
the consultation and is particularly supportive of the proposal to remove the
permitted development right currently in place for public phone boxes. The
Council’s, and my, view is that these phone boxes often do not serve the
purpose they are supposed to and instead are used to generate income via
advertising. Once installed they are frequently neglected and fall into disrepair
and are open to misuse.

6.2

The Government’s proposed changes in this area would require planning
permission and advertising consent on new kiosks. This would further this
Council’s aspirations to remove redundant kiosks and resist their further
proliferation.

7.

Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan

7.1

Following the successful referendum on the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood
Plan, it was formally ‘made’ by the council on 11 December 2018.

7.2

The Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan is now a part of the statutory
development plan for the Neighbourhood area. This means that its policies will
be taken into account in determining planning applications there. Having a
made Neighbourhood Plan means the ‘neighbourhood portion’ of CIL
allocated to this neighbourhood area rises to 25% (up from 15% capped at
£100 per council tax paying dwelling).

Page 45

7.3

This is Westminster’s first neighbourhood plan to go through the formal
process and I would like to congratulate those involved for their hard work in
getting to this stage.

8.

Mayfair Neighbourhood Plan

8.1

The Mayfair Neighbourhood Plan is the second neighbourhood plan to be
formally submitted. Following extensive engagement between officers and the
Forum, the Plan is currently in the early stages of independent examination. A
more detailed briefing on the progress of the examination will be provided in
due course.

9.

Strand Aldwych project

9.1

This project, which will introduce two-way traffic around Aldwych and create a
new public space outside Somerset House, is now ready to proceed to public
consultation. It has taken significant work with partners and stakeholders to
get to this point; the feasibility of this project has been thoroughly assessed,
including a TfL approved traffic modelling programme, as has the works’
overall design concept. The Council and stakeholders agree that the project
should make the most of the wealth of creative talent in the area and we are
therefore working closely with Northbank BID to involve artists in the detailed
design process.

9.3

We will go out to public consultation for six weeks on the project concept,
beginning on 29 January. Consultation material will be available to view
throughout the consultation period on a project website and at the King’s
Shop, on the corner of Strand and Surrey Street, and there will be various
“pop up” events and exhibitions in the project area throughout the six week
period. Flyers will also be available at local libraries and public venues.

Page 46

Agenda Item 6
Economic Development, Education,
Community and Place Shaping Policy
and Scrutiny Committee

Date:

30th January 2019

Classification:

General Release

Title:

School Performance Report for 2018

Report of:

Ian Heggs, Director of Education
Melissa Caslake, Executive Director of Children’s
Services

Cabinet Member Portfolio

David Harvey, Deputy Leader and Cabinet
Member for Economic Development, Education
and Skills

Wards Involved:

All

Policy Context:
Report Author and
Contact Details:

Richard Stanley, Deputy Director of Education
Richard.Stanley@rbkc.gov.uk

1.

Executive Summary

1.1

The purpose of the report is to provide members of the committee with an
opportunity to examine the overall Westminster school Key Stage, GCSE, A
level and Ofsted outcomes in 2018, and to review the Local Authority service
priorities that have been identified for supporting school performance.

2.

Key Matters for the Committee’s Consideration

2.1

The committee are requested to note and comment on:





The overall Westminster school performance outcomes across the primary
and secondary school phases, including maintained and academy
schools.
The performance of groups across Westminster schools (looked after
children, children with Special Educational Needs, children and young
people in receipt of the pupil premium, children with English as an
additional language and ethnic minority groups).
The identified Local Authority priorities and key actions to support further
improvement.

Page 47

3.

School Performance Report 2018

Summary of Strengths and Priorities
Strengths
3.1

Through the quality of school leadership across the borough, and appropriate
intervention and support from the Education Service, the performance in
Westminster schools continues to be amongst the highest in the country. This
year:


Primary school performance in the Key Stage 2 tests and in the
percentage of primary children achieving as expected in reading, writing
and mathematics improved further and was eight percentage points above
national, ranking Westminster primary schools 10th in the country;



Westminster secondary schools’ performance against all the key indicators
at GCSE was well above national scores, with a top ranking in Inner
London for progress 8 and attainment 8 scores;



The percentage of A level students achieving top grades is well above
national;



There were low numbers of young people post 16 not in education or
employment (NEET) and high numbers of those undertaking post 16
education and training;



In both primary and secondary schools, outcomes for vulnerable children
and young people, including those in receipt of the pupil premium and
those children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND),
are well above national averages and overall the gaps in their attainment
when compared with their peers are smaller than the national averages;



The proportion of schools in Westminster judged by Ofsted to be good or
outstanding in their last inspection is currently 95%, well above the
national average of 86%.

Priorities and Key Actions
3.2

Maintaining the high standards as set out above are key Education priorities.
Alongside the performance data, the report highlights the following priorities
for improvement and the key actions that are being taken:




Further raising standards at Key Stage 2 in primary schools, through the
support, advice and training being provided by the School Standards team
to individual schools and all schools through the professional development
programme and the sharing of best practice;
Preventing high levels of fixed term exclusion rates in secondary schools,
with the Early Help service, commissioned outreach from our local

Page 48



alternative education provider (TBAP) and the School Standards service
working with school leaders to support their strategies to address this;
Continuing to support successful post 16 progression through the
Westminster economy and education teams working with schools,
employers, to ensure that all young people have access to a range of
opportunities, including work based training and apprenticeship
programmes.

Primary Schools
3.3

There are 4 nursery schools and 40 mainstream primary schools in
Westminster for children aged 5-11, of which 7 are non-maintained
academies or free schools. Westminster Education works in partnership with
all the schools and their respective governance arrangements.

Early Years Profile
3.4

As an early years measure, the percentage of children in the reception cohort
entering school in Westminster with a ‘good level of development’ was 72% in
2018; this was in line with the national average and represented a one
percentage point increase compared with 2017. All maintained nursery
schools, primary schools with a nursery and independent early years
providers (PVIs) are supported by the LA through giving them access to a
local programme of training and advice on the early years’ curriculum.

Key Stage 1 (7 year olds)
3.5

The percentages of pupils working as expected at Key Stage 1 were higher in
2018 than in 2017 in reading (78%, up from 76%) and in writing (73%, up
from 70%) although mathematics remained at 78%. The percentages for
reading, writing and mathematics were also above nationally (75%, 70% and
76% respectively in 2018).

3.6

The percentages of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 1 had
improved in mathematics (24%, up from 22%), although reading remained at
25%, and writing went down slightly from 19% to 18%. However, writing and
mathematics were above nationally (16% and 22% respectively).

Key Stage 1
Teacher assessments

Working as expected 2018
Working as expected 2017
Working at greater depth 2018
Working at greater depth 2017

Westminster
reading writing
78%
73%
76%
70%
25%
18%
25%
19%

Page 49

maths
78%
78%
24%
22%

NATIONAL
reading writing
75%
70%
76%
68%
26%
16%
25%
16%

maths
76%
75%
22%
21%

Key Stage 2 (11 year olds – year 6 – last year of primary school)
3.7

The percentage of pupils working as expected at Key Stage 2 had improved
in reading, writing and mathematics overall (72% in 2018, up from 68% in
2017) and was also above the national average (64%, up from 61%). The
percentages had also improved in reading (81%, up from 77%) and in
writing (84%, up from 80%) although mathematics remained at 84%; all
were also above the national average.

3.8

The percentage of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 2 had also
improved in reading, writing and mathematics overall (14% in 2018, up
from 10% in 2017) and was also above nationally (10%, up from 9%). The
percentages had also improved in reading (32%, up from 26%) and in
writing (27%, up from 21%), and mathematics remained at 31%; all were
also above the national average.

3.9

The Westminster Key Stage 2 results ranked the authority 10 th in the country
for the percentage of pupils working at expected standards in all three
subjects; and 13th for performance at greater depth.

Page 50

Key Stage 2
Tests (reading and mathematics) and teacher assessments (writing)

Working as
expected
2018
Working as
expected
2017
Working at
greater
depth 2018
Working at
greater
depth 2017

R
Reading

Westminster
W
M
Writing Maths

RWM

R
Reading

NATIONAL
W
M
Writing
Maths

81%

84%

84%

72%

75%

78%

76%

64%

77%

80%

84%

68%

72%

76%

75%

61%

32%

27%

31%

14%

28%

20%

24%

10%

26%

21%

31%

10%

25%

18%

23%

9%

RWM

3.10

In helping primary schools in Westminster maintain the high standards, the LA
provides them with access to core Lead Adviser and additional bought back
service level agreement support from the School Standards team. School
leaders and teachers also have access to high quality local professional
development and teacher assessment moderation. Where schools are
identified for additional support to improve their outcomes the lead adviser
works with the head and chair of governors to draw up a support plan.
Progress with the impact of the plan is monitored through the setting up of a
school improvement board and regular reviews of teaching and learning.

3.11

The Key Stage 2 results by individual primary school are set out in Appendix
A.

Page 51

Secondary Schools
3.12

There are 11 mainstream secondary schools in Westminster, of which 10 are
non-maintained academies or free schools. Westminster Education works in
partnership with all the schools and their respective governance
arrangements. There are also secondary age children educated at the three
special schools in the borough and the alternative education provider.

GCSE (16 year olds – end of compulsory school age)
3.13

Further reforms were introduced this year to the GCSE grading system with
grades 9-1 replacing A*-G for most subjects, other than English and
mathematics which converted in 2017. Points 9-5 are termed a ‘strong’ pass
by the DfE, and 9-4 a ‘standard’ pass.

3.14

The percentage achieving grades 9-4 in English and mathematics was
74%. While this was a slight dip on 75% in 2017, it remains well above the
national score of 59%. The percentage achieving 9-5 in English and
mathematics was 53%, compared with 55% in 2017, which again was well
above the national average (40%).

3.15

The English Baccalaureate indicator is a points performance score for
pupils’ achievement across English, mathematics, science, a language and a
humanities subject. The Ebacc average point score in Westminster was 4.8 in
2018; well above the national score of 3.8.

3.16

The Attainment 8 score (based on the points achieved by pupils in their eight
main subjects) is a key performance indicator. Westminster’s score in 2018
was well above the national average (52.7, compared with 44.3).

3.17 The Progress 8 score which measures the progress that pupils have made in
their secondary schools since primary school was very good for Westminster.
The standardised national average is zero based on all pupils achieving what
was expected from their Key Stage 2 scores. The Westminster score was
+0.47. This means that overall achievement was above what was expected
from Key Stage 2 prior results.
3.18 In the DfE provisional national release for GCSE results for 2018,
Westminster was ranked highest in Inner London for Progress 8 and
Attainment 8 scores and ranked in the top 20 boroughs nationally for all key
indicators.

Page 52

GCSE Indicators

9-5 English &
Mathematics
9-4 English &
Mathematics
Attainment 8
Progress 8

Pupil achievement for key indicators

100%

Westminster
2016
2017

2018

NATIONAL
2016
2017

2018

n/a

55%

53%

n/a

40%

40%

72%

75%

74%

59%

59%

59%

54.6
0.33

52.6
0.47

52.7
0.47

48.5
0.0

44.6
0.0

44.3
0.0

Key Stage 4 - 2018
Westminster and the national average

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

9-4 English and maths
Westminster 2016

3.19

Westminster 2017

9-5 English and maths
Westminster 2018

National

In supporting high standards in Westminster secondary schools, the LA
School Standards service provides support and advice through the core Lead
Adviser service and the additional Service Level Agreement offer. Working
with the local teaching schools, School Standards also runs best practice
workshops for English and mathematics leads and helps to broker school to
school support.

3.20 The GCSE results by individual secondary school are attached in appendix B.
A Level
3.21 For A Levels, the percentage of papers awarded a Grade A*-B was 62% in
2018 (which was above the 2018 national average of 53%), and those
achieving the highest grades (Grade A*-A) was 30% (also above the national
average of 26%).

Page 53

A Levels

A*
A*-A
A*-B
A*-C
A*-D
A*-E

Westminster
2018
10%
30%
62%
86%
96%
99%

NATIONAL
2018
8%
26%
53%
77%
92%
98%

4.

Participation in Education, Training and Employment Post 16

4.1

In the most recent published scorecard (October 2018), the proportion of
young people aged 16-17 who were either NEET (not in education or
employment) or where their destination was not known (NK) was 2.8% which
is well below the national (6.0%) and London (5.0%) averages. This places
Westminster in the top 20% nationally for performance against this measure.

4.2

The scorecard also shows that overall participation rates for Westminster
residents aged 16 and 17 was 97.1% which is well above the London (93.7%)
and national (92.0%) averages. Additionally, 94.2% of this cohort were
participating in full-time education or training within a school sixth form, sixth
form college or further education. This is well above the national rate of
83.8%. The proportion participating through the apprenticeship pathway
(2.1%) is however below the London (3.8%) and national (6.3%) averages.

4.3

In continuing to help all young people progress into post 16 education, training
and employment, support is being provided to schools around helping young
people make informed decisions and choices about what they do after their
statutory schooling years. The Westminster Economy team offer a range of
work related learning activities for schools and, with the Education service,
support local initiatives such as the recent Enterprise week. A Best Practice
Careers Network is also in place to support school leaders in Westminster to
deliver their duty under the new statutory careers guidance including the
adoption of the Gatsby Benchmarks through sharing best practice and the
development of new resources. This includes ensuring that young people
receive high quality information about technical and apprenticeship pathways
in addition to guidance on selecting A levels for Higher Education. The
agendas are covering ‘developing a stable careers programme’, ‘encounters
with employers’, ‘experiences of the workplace’ and ‘apprenticeships and
technical pathways’.

5.

School Attendance and Exclusions

5.1

Attendance in primary schools based on the most recent national comparative
figures is just below the national average (95.7% in 2017/18 for the two terms

Page 54

Autumn and Spring, and 95.9% in 2016/17 for the full academic year
compared with national averages of 95.8% and 96%).
5.2

In secondary schools, attendance levels have risen to above national
averages over the last three years. For the full year 2016/17 and two terms
2017/18, attendance rates were 95.0% and 95.3% respectively compared with
the latest national average of 94.6%.

5.3

Based on the most recent national comparative data release for 2016/17,
fixed term exclusions have remained relatively low in primary schools (57) and
in the same year there was only 2 permanent exclusions. The number of fixed
term incidents in secondary schools in 2016/17 was 1083 which was an
increase on the local figure for 2015/16 (846). As a percentage of the pupils
on roll, this equates to 5.4% which is above the national figure for secondary
schools of 4.6%. Permanent secondary exclusions were 11 in 2016/17 and
went up to 29 in 17/18.

5.4

All schools will promote good attendance strategies, and progress with
attendance will be reviewed as part of the annual conversation and in
preparation for inspection with the Education service’s lead adviser. Where
there are particular problems with persistent absence, schools can receive
support from the Early Help service in working with the families. There is also
now a statutory attendance officer based in the Early Help service responsible
for penalty notices and attendance orders, and a new Vulnerable Children’s
Collaborative Panel has been established. This group has representatives
from across Children’s Services and reviews on a regular basis the progress
of children that are out of school and not in receipt of a full time education,
taking steps where necessary to address cases that are not moving forward at
an appropriate speed. In reducing levels of exclusions in secondary schools a
number of actions are being taken to address this issue in partnership with
school leaders. This includes the provision of managed intervention
programmes to support pupils at risk of exclusion, that is available through the
Tri-borough Alternative Education Provider (TBAP).

6.

Ofsted Inspection Outcomes

6.1

Westminster has continued to improve the proportion of schools rated
outstanding or good by Ofsted inspectors. Currently at 95%, this is well above
the most recent national average of 86%. The table below shows the current
picture.

2018 OFSTED
Outcomes
Outstanding/Good
Outstanding
Good
Requiring
Improvement
Inadequate

National
2017/18
86%
21%
65%
10%
4%

Page 55

Westminster
2017/18
95 % (57 schools)
34% (20)
61% (37)
3%
(2)
2%

(1)

6.2

Translated into numbers of pupils in the borough, 92% (20,375 out of a cohort
of 22,043) of children and young people in Westminster now attend a good or
outstanding school. This compares with a percentage of 85% of children and
young people attending good or outstanding schools nationally.

6.3

In helping to maintain the high percentage of good and outstanding schools,
School Standards officers work in partnership with school leaders to ensure
that they have access to the professional advice and training needed both
through a core offer and an additional bought back traded school
improvement service. The well-established framework for school
improvement also enables the Local Authority to provide further support
where needed at the earliest possible stage.

6.4

The Education Inspection Framework is currently being reviewed by Ofsted
and they are undertaking a consultation on a proposed new Framework for
introduction in September. This will place a greater emphasis on inspecting
the quality of curriculum and meeting the needs of learners.

6.5

The current Ofsted inspection outcomes for individual schools are set out in
Appendix C.

7.

Outcomes for Pupil Groups

Pupil Profile
7.1

In reviewing performance of schools in Westminster, an analysis is also made
of the achievements of children and young people by schools in vulnerable
groups. This includes children and young people with free school meal
entitlement (FSM), Special Educational Needs (SEN) and with English as an
additional language (EAL). It also includes children and young people from
minority ethnic groups (MEP), and who are in the care of the Local Authority.

7.2

The percentage of children with Special Educational Needs and disabilities
(SEND) in Westminster primary schools is the same as nationally, and well
above in Westminster secondary schools. The percentage of pupils entitled to
a free meal and the Pupil Premium funding (20%) was considerably above the
national average (14%). At secondary schools, the percentage of pupils
entitled to a free meal (23%) was again well above the national average
(12%).

7.3

In primary schools in Westminster, the percentage of pupils speaking English
as an additional language (66%) was over three times the national average of
21%, and 87% of pupils were from an ethnic minority (compared with 33%
nationally). In secondary schools, the percentage of students speaking
English as an additional language (59%) was nearly four times the national
average of 17%. Additionally, 86% of pupils were from an ethnic minority
(MEP) compared with 31% nationally.

Page 56

Pupils on roll in Westminster schools
100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
0%

FSM

EAL

MEP

SEN Sup

EHC

FSM

EAL

MEP

SEN Sup

EHC

Secondary

Primary
Westminster

Nati onal

Outcomes
7.4

Overall the outcomes of the different pupil cohort groups compare well with
national averages, and the differences (gaps) between these cohort groups of
pupils and their peers were smaller than national figures. This is shown in the
comparative outcome data for each group in the table below and detailed in
the sections that follow.

Key Stage 2 - Percentage expected or
above in reading, writing and
mathematics

Pupil
Non Pupil premium
Premium Premium
gap

EHC

SEN
Support

No need

Special
need gap

EAL

non EAL

EAL gap

Westminster 2016

51%

66%

-15%

30%

22%

67%

-44%

56%

61%

-6%

Westminster 2017

60%

78%

-18%

37%

32%

76%

-43%

69%

65%

4%

Westminster 2018

66%

78%

-12%

16%

38%

81%

-47%

71%

72%

-1%

National 2016

39%

61%

-22%

7%

16%

62%

-48%

52%

54%

-2%

National 2017

48%

68%

-20%

8%

21%

71%

-52%

61%

62%

-1%

National 2018

51%

71%

-20%

9%

24%

74%

-53%

65%

65%

0%

EHC

SEN
Support

No need

Special
need gap

EAL

non EAL

EAL gap

Key Stage 4 - 9-5 in English and
mathematics

Pupil
Non Pupil premium
Premium Premium
gap

Westminster 2017

47%

65%

-18%

4%

28%

63%

-39%

55%

56%

-1%

Westminster 2018

44%

62%

-18%

11%

22%

62%

-43%

53%

52%

1%

National 2017

25%

50%

-25%

5%

16%

48%

-35%

44%

43%

1%

National 2018

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

EHC

SEN
Support

No need

Special
need gap

EAL

non EAL

EAL gap

Key Stage 4 - 9-4 in English and
mathematics

Pupil
Non Pupil premium
Premium Premium
gap

Westminster 2016

66%

78%

-12%

23%

49%

82%

-37%

73%

70%

3%

Westminster 2017

68%

82%

-14%

17%

48%

83%

-41%

75%

75%

0%

Westminster 2018

69%

79%

-10%

23%

44%

83%

-44%

76%

69%

7%

National 2016

43%

71%

-28%

11%

29%

70%

-46%

63%

64%

-1%

National 2017

45%

72%

-27%

11%

30%

71%

-46%

64%

64%

0%

National 2018

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Page 57

Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)
7.5

As in previous years, 2018 school outcomes for children with SEND show that
at both primary and secondary levels the achievements of children with SEND
are above nationally.

7.6

At Key Stage 2, 38% of SEN support children achieved the expected in
reading, writing and mathematics compared with the national average of 24%.
This was an improvement of seven percentage points on the 2017 results.
16% of SEN children with Education and Health Care Plans (EHCP) achieved
the expected level; while a dip on 2017 results for this group, this was well
above the national 9% for this group. The gap between the overall
performance of SEND children and their peers at Key Stage 2 was also
narrower than the national average; while the gap nationally between SEN
and non-SEN was 47% in Westminster, it was 53% nationally.

7.7

At GCSE, 44% of young people on SEN support achieved Grades 9-4 in
English and mathematics in Westminster. While this was a four percentage
points dip on 2017 result, it is well above the national comparative
performance for this group (30%). 23% of young people with SEN EHCPs
achieved a Grade 9-4 in English and mathematics. This was an improvement
of seven percentage points on the 2017 results for this group. The GCSE gap
between all SEN young people and their peers for achievement of grades 9-4
was 44% compared to the 2017 national figure of 46%. The gap for
performance at Grades 9-5 was however wider than the national average.

7.8

Attendance for pupils with EHCPs (2017/18, two terms) in primary schools
was 93.3% which was above the national average (93.0%); for pupils with
SEN support attendance was 94.6%, which was also above nationally
(94.5%).

7.9

Attendance for pupils with EHCPs (2017/18, two terms) in secondary schools
was 93.8% which was above the national average (91.9%); for pupils with
SEN Support attendance was 92.9% which was also above nationally
(92.2%).

7.10

In the last full published year (16/17), there were no permanent exclusions of
children with EHCPs in primary and secondary.

7.11

The percentage of primary school children receiving SEN support and those
with EHCPs with one or more fixed term exclusion was well below national
averages at 1.6% and 0% compared with 16/17 national averages of 3% and
5% respectively. In Westminster secondary schools, the fixed term exclusions
for pupils with EHCPs were below the 16/17 national averages at 9%
compared with the national figure of 11%. For those receiving SEN support,
fixed term exclusions were higher than national 16/17 averages at 12.5%
compared with a national figure of 11.4%.

Page 58

Pupil Premium
7.12 The gap in the performance of the pupil premium group of pupils and their
peers is considerably less than the national percentage in Westminster for
both primary (Key Stage 2) and secondary (GCSE). At Key Stage 2, 66% of
pupil premium pupils achieved the expected standard in reading, writing and
mathematics compared with the national average of 51%. While the gap
between pupil premium and non-pupil premium pupils was 12% in
Westminster, it was 20% nationally. At GCSE, 44% of pupil premium pupils
achieved Grades 9-5 in English and mathematics in Westminster compared to
25% nationally. The GCSE gap for this indicator in Westminster was 18%
compared with the 25% national gap.
English as an Additional Language / Ethnicity
7.13 There was no gap in achievement between pupils who speak English as an
additional language (EAL) and those who speak English as a first or only
language (non EAL) in primary schools, compared to 1% nationally. Given
that three-quarters of EAL speakers arrive in primary school with little or no
fluency in English, this is an excellent achievement. Overall attainment for this
group at primary level was above national (72%, compared with 63%). At
GCSE, Westminster EAL pupils (53%) performed above EAL pupils nationally
(44%).
7.14 At both Key Stages 2 and 4, all main ethnic groups performed above, or
broadly in line with, the national percentage for that group in terms of
achieving as expected in reading, writing and mathematics (Key Stage 2) and
in achieving Grades 9-5 in English and mathematics (Key Stage 4).
Looked after Children
7.15

Our Looked After Children of school age benefit from the additional support
and tracking they receive through the Tri-borough Virtual school. A full report
on the progress and outcomes of our Looked After Children is provided by our
Virtual School head teacher as part of the annual report. The headline 2018
results are set out in the paragraph below.

7.16

At Key Stage 2 this year, there were six eligible pupils in the cohort. Four
pupils (67%) achieved the expected standard in reading and writing, and four
(67%) achieved the expected standard in mathematics. At GCSE level, there
were eleven eligible pupils in the cohort. Eight pupils (73%) achieved five or
more GCSE grades 9-1, and nine (82%) achieved at least one graded result.

Page 59

APPENDICES
A. Primary School 2018 Key Stage 2 results
B. Secondary School 2018 GCSE results
C. Current Ofsted Inspection outcomes by school (Primary, Secondary
and Special schools)

Page 60

APPENDIX 1
WCC Primary

School name
All Souls CofE Primary School
Ark Atwood Primary Academy
Ark King Solomon Academy
Ark Paddington Green Primary Academy
Barrow Hill Junior School
Burdett-Coutts and Townshend CofE
Christ Church Bentinck CofE
Churchill Gardens Primary Academy
Edward Wilson Primary School
Essendine Primary School
Gateway Academy
George Eliot Primary School
Hallfield Primary School
Hampden Gurney CofE Primary School
Millbank Academy
Our Lady of Dolours RC Primary School
Pimlico Primary
Queen's Park Primary School
Soho Parish CofE Primary School
St Augustine's CofE Primary School
St Barnabas' CofE Primary School
St Clement Danes CofE Primary School
St Edward's Catholic Primary School
St Gabriel's CofE Primary School
St George's Hanover Square CofE
St James & St John CofE
St Joseph's RC Primary School
St Luke's CofE Primary School
St Mary Magdalene CofE Primary School
St Mary's Bryanston Square CofE School
St Matthew's School, Westminster
St Peter's CofE School
St Peter's Eaton Square CofE
St Saviour's CofE Primary School
St Stephen's CofE Primary School
St Vincent de Paul RC Primary School
St Vincent's Catholic Primary School
St. Mary of the Angels Catholic Primary
Westminster Cathedral RC Primary
Wilberforce Primary
WCC LA
Inner London
NATIONAL (ALL)

% expected % higher score
%
%
%
%
%
%
KS2
standard in
in reading, expected higher expected higher expected greater
eligible reading, writing writing and standard score in standard score in standard depth in
cohort
and maths
maths
in reading reading in maths maths in writing writing
23
83%
13%
96%
39%
87%
26%
87%
35%
57
82%
25%
86%
40%
95%
39%
93%
46%
65
71%
8%
78%
26%
83%
15%
83%
14%
42
60%
10%
67%
21%
95%
29%
74%
12%
59
85%
29%
92%
42%
90%
46%
97%
59%
45
51%
9%
64%
18%
58%
13%
73%
22%
27
93%
7%
100%
33%
100%
56%
93%
19%
38
68%
13%
76%
18%
76%
24%
76%
24%
55
64%
15%
76%
25%
82%
24%
80%
22%
50
70%
10%
74%
16%
94%
30%
88%
30%
92
72%
12%
82%
25%
89%
36%
83%
22%
52
65%
0%
75%
10%
79%
27%
77%
15%
50
80%
4%
98%
34%
94%
22%
88%
14%
31
97%
55%
100%
65%
100%
94%
97%
68%
61
75%
15%
84%
31%
87%
31%
82%
28%
31
81%
10%
94%
39%
87%
26%
84%
13%
0
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
34
71%
3%
79%
26%
88%
15%
82%
32%
21
71%
10%
81%
48%
90%
33%
81%
29%
26
69%
15%
73%
23%
100%
50%
81%
27%
18
56%
17%
61%
22%
72%
17%
83%
33%
27
78%
19%
85%
48%
81%
37%
81%
19%
38
63%
13%
84%
32%
79%
24%
79%
24%
30
77%
17%
87%
37%
90%
40%
87%
23%
26
58%
12%
81%
19%
65%
19%
88%
15%
17
88%
24%
94%
65%
88%
35%
100%
29%
32
78%
38%
84%
53%
88%
47%
91%
47%
29
79%
7%
79%
48%
86%
28%
86%
17%
29
79%
10%
90%
31%
90%
45%
93%
14%
25
64%
12%
84%
36%
72%
32%
80%
36%
29
66%
21%
72%
24%
72%
24%
86%
28%
30
60%
3%
77%
30%
77%
13%
77%
17%
30
77%
20%
93%
53%
87%
47%
83%
27%
29
79%
28%
93%
69%
83%
45%
90%
34%
19
68%
0%
79%
5%
84%
5%
79%
21%
20
70%
10%
75%
30%
90%
35%
85%
35%
29
90%
31%
97%
52%
90%
45%
93%
34%
30
73%
20%
83%
30%
90%
27%
80%
23%
29
76%
14%
86%
38%
79%
21%
90%
21%
35
57%
0%
63%
20%
63%
6%
69%
26%
1428
72%
14%
81%
32%
84%
31%
83%
27%
32925
70%
13%
78%
31%
80%
29%
81%
24%
624150
64%
10%
75%
28%
76%
24%
78%
20%

Source: DfE Performance tables

Results key
NE

No Entries

SUPP

Suppressed due to small cohort numbers

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2

WCC Secondary
School name
Ark King Solomon Academy
Harris Academy St John's Wood
Paddington Academy
Pimlico Academy
St Augustine's CofE High School
St George's Catholic School
The Grey Coat Hospital
The St Marylebone CofE School
Westminster Academy
Westminster City School
WCC LA
Inner London
England

% standard % strong 9-5 % EBACC % EBACC
KS4 Attainment Progress
9-4 English English and
9-4
9-5
cohort
8
8
and maths
maths
passes passes
64
50.6
0.32
75.0%
56.0%
56%
41%
185
52.6
0.58
76.0%
49.0%
16%
12%
173
54.1
0.78
80.0%
56.0%
51%
35%
199
53.8
0.53
75.0%
57.0%
42%
32%
153
45.9
0.19
67.0%
41.0%
21%
10%
138
53.3
0.68
71.0%
56.0%
20%
16%
151
63.6
0.71
86.0%
72.0%
68%
57%
139
60.8
0.60
85.0%
71.0%
53%
45%
159
52.7
0.61
73.0%
52.0%
27%
19%
116
43.2
-0.48
51.0%
22.0%
14%
3%
1496
52.7
0.47
73.6%
52.6%
35.5%
26.3%
25501
48.1
0.18
65.8%
46.1%
n/a
n/a
585377
44.3
0.00
59.1%
39.9%
22.0%
15.3%

Source: DfE Performance tables

Results key
NE

No Entries

SUPP

Suppressed due to small cohort numbers

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 3

WCC Primary

OFSTED latest

Inspection
Overall
School name
end date effectiveness
All Souls CofE Primary School
16/06/2011
2
Ark Atwood Primary Academy
11/07/2013
1
Ark King Solomon Academy
15/05/2013
1
Ark Paddington Green Primary Academy13/07/2012
2
Barrow Hill Junior School
10/09/2014
2
Burdett-Coutts and Townshend CofE 10/12/2014
2
Christ Church Bentinck CofE Primary School
10/10/2013
2
Churchill Gardens Primary Academy
05/05/2016
2
Edward Wilson Primary School
14/03/2013
2
Essendine Primary School
28/02/2013
2
Gateway Academy
12/06/2008
1
George Eliot Primary School
07/06/2018
3
Hallfield Primary School
24/10/2013
2
Hampden Gurney CofE Primary School 08/05/2009
1
Millbank Academy
23/05/2013
1
Our Lady of Dolours RC Primary School 21/03/2013
2
Pimlico Primary
25/06/2015
1
Queen's Park Primary School
24/01/2013
2
Soho Parish CofE Primary School
24/02/2016
1
St Augustine's CofE Primary School
10/10/2013
2
St Barnabas' CofE Primary School
31/01/2013
2
St Clement Danes CofE Primary School 05/11/2014
1
St Edward's Catholic Primary School
03/10/2014
2
St Gabriel's CofE Primary School
12/03/2014
2
St George's Hanover Square CofE
03/11/2011
2
St James & St John CofE
23/03/2012
2
St Joseph's RC Primary School
22/01/2015
2
St Luke's CofE Primary School
09/03/2012
2
St Mary Magdalene CofE Primary School17/10/2012
2
St Mary's Bryanston Square CofE School 24/06/2016
2
St Matthew's School, Westminster
25/10/2013
2
St Peter's CofE School
15/01/2014
2
St Peter's Eaton Square CofE
17/10/2006
1
St Saviour's CofE Primary School
17/10/2008
1
St Stephen's CofE Primary School
01/02/2013
2
St Vincent de Paul RC Primary School 11/03/2016
2
St Vincent's Catholic Primary School
21/10/2010
1
St. Mary of the Angels Catholic Primary 28/02/2012
2
Westminster Cathedral RC Primary
07/06/2013
2
Wilberforce Primary
21/03/2018
2

Page 65

APPENDIX 3

WCC Secondary
School name
Ark King Solomon Academy
Harris Academy St John's Wood*
Paddington Academy
Pimlico Academy
St Augustine's CofE High School
St George's Catholic School
The Grey Coat Hospital
The St Marylebone CofE School
Westminster Academy
Westminster City School

OFSTED latest
Inspection
Overall
end date effectiveness
15/05/2013
1
19/01/2017
4
20/10/2011
1
02/12/2010
1
19/09/2013
1
13/11/2014
1
05/03/2009
1
02/04/2014
1
01/03/2013
1
18/01/2013
2

*Harris Academy St John's Wood - the Ofsted inspection took place when
this establishment was 'Quintin Kynaston school'

Ofsted - Overall effectiveness key
0 = Insufficient evidence
1 = Outstanding
2 = Good
3 = Requires improvement (previously satisfactory)
4 = Inadequate
SWK = Serious Weaknesses
SM = Special Measures
8 = Does not apply (used for the early years judgement from January to August 2012)
9 = No Judgement.
NULL = No data available. Some schools have only undergone one Ofsted inspection, in
these cases no previous inspection data are available.

Page 66

Agenda Item 7
Place Shaping and
Planning Policy and
Scrutiny Committee
Date:

30 January 2019

Classification:

General Release

Title:

Draft City Plan 2019-2040 – Economic Growth

Report of:

Julia Corkey, Director of Policy, Performance and
Communications

Cabinet Member Portfolio

Place Shaping and Planning, and Economic
Development, Education and Community

Wards Involved:

All

Policy Context:

City for All

Report Author and
Contact Details:

Sean Walsh x4152
swalsh2@westminster.gov.uk

1.

Executive Summary

1.1

On 12th November 2018 the City Council issued the Draft City Plan for
informal consultation ahead of the statutory Regulation 19 consultation that will
commence in early 2019. The informal consultation ran for six weeks, closing
on 21st December. The City Council undertook an intense period of
engagement to listen to the initial feedback and explain the rationale behind
our policy positions. Nearly 200 responses were received.

1.2.

This report provides information on how the proposed policies in the Draft City
Plan aim to support and encourage Westminster’s continued economic
growth, which can provide opportunities for all in line with the priorities of City
for All.

1.3.

The committee is invited to provide its feedback on the proposed draft policies
to inform the development of the plan, ahead of the publication of a revised
Draft City Plan for Regulation 19 Consultation.

Page 67

2.

Key Matters for the Committee’s Consideration

2.1

The committee are asked to consider the proposed approach in the Draft City
Plan to:
a) ensuring town centres and high streets can respond to the challenges
facing the retail sector;
b) protecting against further net loss of office floorspace from the Central
Activity Zone (CAZ) as defined on the map included in Appendix 1.
c) support development that secures economic growth in the North West
Economic Development Area (NWEDA) as defined on map included in
Appendix 3.

3.

Background

3.1

Introduction

3.1.1 The Draft City Plan 2019-2040 sets out draft policies for determining planning
applications and shaping the future growth of Westminster. It includes policies
on a wide range of matters, including identifying key growth areas, increasing
housing delivery, supporting economic growth, providing design guidance –
including on building heights and conserving our built heritage, and
encouraging sustainable travel and greener living.
3.1.2 The City Plan is a statutory document that all local authorities are required to
produce. While it was subject to informal consultation in November and
December 2018, it must also be subject to formal consultation and
independent examination before it can be adopted. It must also be consistent
with national policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, and
regional policies set out in the Mayor’s London Plan. Once adopted, the plan
will replace the 2016 Westminster City Plan, and saved policies from the
Westminster Unitary Development Plan (UDP).
3.1.3 The City Plan complements and is aligned with the wider work on Economic
Development which is led by the Economy Team. Whilst the City Plan
provides a spatial framework and overarching policies on growth; the
Economy Team leads the relationship management with stakeholders which
make a difference at a city-wide and neighbourhood level. Businesses are
encouraged to engage with local employment and apprenticeship
programmes, including through the Westminster Employment Service and
businesses benefit from connectivity projects which are improving broadband
speed and affordable work spaces across Westminster, nurturing start-ups
and micro businesses.

3.2

Economic growth

3.2.1 Economic growth forms a key pillar of our strategy for the future development
of the city. With over 55,000 businesses in a diverse range of sectors, 754,000
jobs, and the highest economic output of any local authority in the UK, the

Page 68

continued economic success of Westminster is of huge importance to both the
London and wider UK economy. It also provides vital opportunities for
residents to access employment. There is therefore a dedicated chapter of
economy and employment policies within the Draft City Plan. It includes
policies on:
 Supporting economic growth – setting where new office and other
workspaces will be directed, and protection for existing space;
 Town centres, high streets and the CAZ – setting out the approach to
retail and other town centre uses;
 Markets and commerce in the public realm – setting out support for
markets and considerations for other forms of street trading;
 Visitor economy – setting out where existing arts, cultural and hotel
uses will be protected and new such uses directed;
 Food, drink and entertainment uses – setting out such uses will be
supported as part of the city’s offer whilst protecting residential amenity;
 Special policy areas for Soho, Mayfair and St James, Harley Street,
Portland Place and Savile Row – setting out how development in these
areas will respect the unique character and clusters of uses within
these distinct parts of the city;
3.2.2 Beyond this, various other policies in the Draft City Plan will also support
economic growth. For example, there are policies that recognise the
importance of high quality digital infrastructure to how modern businesses
operate, and the need to secure contributions towards employment, training
and skills programmes – so that all sectors of society can benefit from
economic growth. Policies on enhancing the public realm, managing
congestion, and improving housing delivery, will also all help foster the right
conditions for continued economic growth - by providing an attractive
environment for both businesses and workers.
3.2.3 As the City Plan progresses, further detailed guidance on some topics will also
be provided in the form of updated Supplementary Planning Documents. To
this effect, plans are in place to also update guidance on the use of planning
obligations. This will be used alongside the City Plan to help secure suitable
financial contributions towards local recruitment, and ensure commitments set
out in larger schemes employment and skills plans are implemented. This
could include commitments to provide work experience and apprenticeship
opportunities.
3.2.4 Given the diverse nature of policies on economic growth contained within Draft
City Plan, the remainder of this report focusses on 3 key themes in more
detail:
 The future role of town centres and high streets;
 The protection of office space in the Central Activity Zone (CAZ); and
 Economic development in the North West Economic Development Area
(NWEDA).

Page 69

3.3

Future role of town centres and high streets

3.3.1 It is well documented in the media that the retail industry is struggling amid
fierce competition from online shopping – with several high-profile store
closures and warnings of plans from operators to rationalise the distribution of
physical stores. However, existing adopted policies in the 2016 City Plan and
the Unitary Development Plan currently insist on a strong level of protection
for existing shops (classified as A1 retail in the Use Class Order) – on the
basis that doing so is necessary to protect the retail function of our town
centres and high streets. While the protection of this function remains
important, a new more flexible approach is now needed to enable town
centres and high streets to adapt to the challenges they now face, and
continue to thrive. Not doing so risks increased levels of vacant premises,
and/or an overconcentration of uses such as hairdressers, beauty salons, or
lower quality shops which do not contribute to the vitality of the high street (as
change of use from a shop to any of these will not need planning permission).
3.3.2 Policy 15 in the Draft City Plan (included as Appendix 1 to this report)
therefore aims to support the evolution of town centres and high streets as
multifunctional places to work and spend leisure time, as well as shop. The
intention is that a greater mix of complementary town centre uses will enable
these areas to offer something different to the internet, and ensure they are
places people want to visit and spend time. This in turn will support economic
growth by helping sustain existing businesses, increasing consumer spend,
and creating new jobs. Suitable uses which could be appropriate alongside
predominant shop use could include cafes, restaurants, galleries, exhibition
space, gyms, yoga studios and workspaces, particularly above the ground
floor, and where they would not compromise the retail function of the
designated centre. Policy also offers greater support for such uses within
larger format stores to enable them to diversify and improve their offer to the
consumer, and well managed ‘meanwhile uses’ to avoid long term vacancies,
support small businesses, and add to the buzz of an area.
3.4

Protection of office floorspace in CAZ

3.4.1 Westminster is a global office centre, with an estimated 8.6 million sqm of
office floorspace. Its offer is hugely diverse, catering for a full range of
occupiers, both in terms of size and business sector. However, more than
570,000 sqm of office space has been lost from the city since 2005 –
predominantly to residential and hotels. This is a trend we want to reverse.
3.4.2 The vast majority of Westminster (67%) falls within the Central Activity Zone
(CAZ), which is defined by the Mayor in the London Plan in recognition of its
rich mix of commercial uses that contribute to central London’s wide appeal.
This includes the clustering of office activity vitally important to the wider UK
economy. Policy 14 in the Draft City Plan (see Appendix 2 of this report) sets
out that there should be no net loss, and a substantial increase in office
floorspace in the CAZ over the plan period - to maintain economic
competitiveness and support jobs growth. It also recognises the need for new

Page 70

office development to respond to modern ways of working – through the
provision of co-working spaces and on-site amenities.
3.4.3 Alongside this policy, the City Council has committed to introducing an Article
4 Direction to ensure planning permission is required for any proposals for the
loss of offices to residential within the CAZ. Under government reforms to the
planning system, conversion of offices to residential do not normally need
planning permission. However, when these reforms were originally introduced,
the CAZ was given an exemption in recognition of the importance of the
nature of office activity within it. This exemption is due to expire on 30th April
2019, and the proposed Article 4 will come into force on 1st May 2019 to
ensure continued protection against permitted development rights..
3.5

Economic development in NWEDA

3.5.1 Policy 5 of the Draft City Plan (see Appendix 3) continues to promote
economic development in the North West Economic Development Area
(NWEDA), which covers Queens Park, Harrow Road, Westbourne, and part of
Little Venice wards. This designation is carried forward in recognition that a
concerted effort to secure increased job opportunities in these more deprived
parts of the city are needed. Doing so will help ensure all sectors of society
benefit from the city’s economic growth, consistent with City for All priorities.
3.5.2 The policy recognises the potential scope in the area for a distinct offer to
office growth expected in more central locations – where densities and land
values are higher. Provision of spaces for creative industries, including
workshops and spaces with community facilities, will help further diversify the
city’s employment offer and support the growth of small businesses. Policy 5
also seeks enhancements to Harrow Road District Centre as a focal point for
surrounding communities, and to improve physical accessibility across the
area to job opportunities in nearby growth areas including Paddington and Old
Oak Common.
3.5.3 To continue to support employment space in the area, consideration could be
given to introducing a further Article 4 Direction to protect specified
employment sites within the NWEDA. Such intervention would be distinct from
the Article 4 for the CAZ discussed in paragraph 3.4.3 above – as any
justification for such action would be different to that of the CAZ given the
different nature of employment provided.
3.6

Next steps

3.6.1 The Draft Plan is currently being revised in response to comments received
through informal consultation with a wide range of stakeholders that was
carried out in November and December 2018. In response to this report,
recommendations from Scrutiny Committee on how the plan can further
support economic growth are also now welcomed.
3.6.2 Once revised, the plan will be subject to a formal 6-week period of
consultation before submission to the Secretary of State for independent

Page 71

examination in Spring 2019. Post examination, the final plan (incorporating
any binding modifications from the Planning Inspector), will be reported to Full
Council for formal adoption. While the timescale for this will be dependent on
the length and complexity of any examination, it is currently anticipated that
adoption will be at the end of 2019.

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the
Background Papers please contact Sean Walsh x4152
swalsh2@westminster.gov.uk
APPENDICES:
1. Draft City Plan Policy 15 – Town centres, high streets and the CAZ
2. Draft City Plan Policy 14 – Supporting economic growth
3. Draft City Plan Policy 5 – Spatial Development Priorities: North West
Economic Development Area
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Draft City Plan 2019 - 2040
National Planning Policy Framework
Draft New London Plan

Page 72

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

Appendix 1 – Draft Proposed City Plan Policy 15 (as consulted on 12th November 2018 –
21st December 2018)
15. Town centres, high streets
and the CAZ
NEW DEVELOPMENT
A. New development in existing town centres
and high streets will enhance and diversify
their offer as places to shop, work and
spend leisure time.

Page 73

B. A1 retail will remain the priority use
throughout the town centre hierarchy.
It will be supported by complementary town
centre uses that provide active frontages,
increase customer dwell time, and enhance
town centre vitality and viability.
C. New development will be of a scale, type
and format that reflects and enhances the
role and function of the centre within which
it is proposed. A range of unit sizes including
small stores will be supported.
D. Use of upper floors for residential use
is supported in principle across all parts
of the town centre hierarchy except the
International Centres.
E. Town centre uses will also be supported
in principle throughout the CAZ, where
they do not harm local character or
residential amenity.

F. Only sites that fall outside of the CAZ and
the town centre hierarchy will be required
to pass the sequential test set out in the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
Impact assessments will only be required
for proposals for more than 2,500 sq m
of retail outside the town centre hierarchy.
MANAGING CHANGE OF USE
G. Throughout the town centre hierarchy,
the change of use of an A1 retail unit will:
1. be for a use that enhances town centre
vitality and viability;
2. maintain an active frontage;
3. not result in more than three non
A1-uses consecutively in a frontage;
4. be supported by evidence that there is
no reasonable prospect of its continued
use for A1-retail purposes, as evidenced
by appropriate marketing for a period
of at least 18 months. The marketing
test will not apply to proposals in the
Oxford Street frontage of the West
End International Shopping Centre.
H. Temporary proposals for ‘meanwhile use’
of empty spaces within the town centre
hierarchy will be supported where it can
be demonstrated that they will enhance

62

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

town centre vitality and viability, and will
be appropriately managed.
I. Complementary town centre uses within
an A1-retail unit (including department
stores) will be supported in principle where
they are clearly subsidiary to the host unit.

Page 74

J. Any other change of use within the town
centre hierarchy should maintain an active
frontage and be for a use that enhances
town centre vitality and viability.

New development
15.1 / Westminster’s town centre hierarchy includes
some of the most iconic parts of London, and
provides a diverse network of areas to shop, work,
visit and socialise. It includes the International
Centres of the West End and Knightsbridge, the
WERLSPA, CAZ Retail Clusters, and Major, District,
and Local Centres. The locations of these, along
with the CAZ boundary, are shown in Map 6.
15.2 / Most of these centres are designated through
the London Plan. Additional areas designated
through this plan include the Local Centres and
some CAZ Retail Clusters. All are based on the
findings of our Town Centre Health Check 2018,
which monitors their performance in terms of mix
of uses, levels of vacancies, and their boundaries.
In the case of the CAZ Retail Clusters, the areas

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

not identified in the London Plan were previously
identified in the City Plan as ‘other centres within
the CAZ’ or ‘named streets’.
15.3 / GLA forecasts based on a range of scenarios
indicate that, over the period to 2041, there will be
a need for between 464,865 sq m and 579,194 sq m
(gross) new comparison retail floorspace in
Westminster5, assuming base expenditure levels
continue. Small scale growth in convenience
shopping is also expected. Despite the growing
use of online shopping and increased space
efficiency within stores, demand for growth will
be driven by increased spending from a growing
resident population and from domestic and
overseas visitors. The increased trend in retail
towards larger, more successful centres reinforces
the need to continue to plan for retail growth in
Westminster through the intensification of existing
centres and high streets. While A1 retail will remain
the priority use throughout the town centre hierarchy,
to ensure existing centres thrive, they must also be
given scope to diversify and evolve to new trends.
A range of complementary town centre uses will
therefore be vital to support their roles as social
spaces, increase customer dwell time, and make
them more interesting places to visit. All of this will
help ensure they remain at the cutting edge of the
revolution in retail and offer experiences that
cannot be matched by online shopping.

5 Consumer Expenditure and Comparison Goods Floorspace
Need in London, Experian, 2017

15.4 / Where new A1 retail and complementary town
centre uses are proposed, they should be of a scale,
type, and nature that reflects the role of the centre
within which it is located, to ensure the town centre
hierarchy is not compromised. Proposals should
demonstrate how they will enhance the existing
centres and mitigate any potential negative impacts.
Determining whether a non-A1 use is complementary
will be based on the NPPF definition of town
centre uses, and consideration of the role,
function and health of the centre within which it
is proposed. Typically it will include uses such as
cafés, restaurants and other leisure uses, but could
also include spaces that can host exhibitions and
events. These could be within standalone units
or as subsidiary uses in a larger host unit.
15.5 / Proposals for major new retail and
complementary developments are expected to
provide a range of unit sizes to encourage variety
in the shopping offer and support small business
growth. As a guide, small shops will generally be
considered as those under 150 sq m gross retail area.
15.6 / Within the town centre hierarchy, the
West End and Knightsbridge International Centres
provide London’s prime retail destinations, and
offer unparalleled specialist and comparison retail
of regional and national importance that draws in
international visitors. The West End International
Centre includes Oxford Street, Regent Street and
Bond Street, while Knightsbridge International
Centre includes Brompton Road and extends
beyond the city boundary into the Royal Borough
of Kensington and Chelsea.
63

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

International Centre
1: West End
2: Knightsbridge
WERLSPA
3: West End Retail and Leisure Special Policy Area
CAZ Retail Cluster
4: Charing Cross Road
5: Covent Garden/Strand
6: Victoria Street
7: Baker Street (South)
8: Edgware Road (South)
9: Marylebone Road
10: Marylebone High Street
11: Warwick Way / Tachbrook Street
12: Piccadilly
Islington
13: Charlotte Street/Fitzrovia
14: Wigmore Street
15: Shepherd Market
16: South Audley / Mount Street
17: Jermyn Street
18: Chiltern Street
19: Cleveland Street
20: Crawford Street/Seymour Place/York Street
21: Great Titchfield Street
22: New Cavendish Street
23: New Quebec Street
24: Seymour Place
25: Lupus Street
26: Moreton Street
27: Pimlico
28: Strutton Ground
29: Great Portland Street
Major Centre
30: Queensway/Westbourne Grove

35

Brent

37

38

49
34
48

Camden

57
54

44

61

50
60
39
45

32

36

46
31

53

29

9

19

47

22

10
20

18

13

21

62

District Centre
31: Church Street/Edgware Road
32: Harrow Road
33: Praed Street
34: St John's Wood
Local Centre
35: Abbey Road/Boundary Road
36: Baker Street/Melcombe Street
37: Blenheim Terrace
38: Charlbert Street
39: Clifton Road
40: Connaught Street
41: Craven Road/Craven Terrace
42: Ebury Bridge Road
Hackney
43: Elizabeth Street
44: Fernhead Road
45: Formosa Street
46: Harrow Road (East)
47: Harrow Road/Bourne Terrace
48: Kilburn Lane
49: Kilburn Park Road
50: Lauderdale Road/Castellain Road
51: Ledbury Road
52: Leinster Terrace
53: Lisson Grove
54: Maida Vale
55: Moscow Road
56: Motcomb Street
57: Nugent Terrace
58: Pimlico Road
59: Porchester Road
60: Shirland Road Junction
61: Shirland Road/Chippenham Road
62: Westbourne Park Road

Page 75

7
8
59

51

14

33
40

30

City of
London

1

23

4

24

3

41

55
52

5

16
12

17

15

2

Kensington
and Chelsea

56
28

6

Southwark

International Centre
WERLSPA
CAZ Retail Cluster

43

Major Centre

11

District Centre
Hammersmith
Local
Centre

58

and Fulham

Central Activities Zone

25

Local authority boundary

0

Lambeth

26

Westminster boundary

[

27

42

1

2
km

Wandsworth

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

Map 6: Town Centre Hierarchy

64

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

Page 76

15.7 / The Mayor of London has identified these
centres as being of high commercial growth
potential6 and therefore especially suitable for
further large-scale retail growth. To reflect their
role and function, retail provision should be
predominantly for comparison shopping and
maintain a strong retail core at ground and lower
floors. Complementary town centre uses that
enhance customer experience will be focussed
on upper floors, alongside other commercial uses
including office floorspace. Where provided at
lower floor levels, non-A1 uses will normally be
subsidiary to primary A1 uses, and will enhance
and sustain, rather than dilute their comparison
shopping role. Convenience shopping such
as supermarkets could dilute their comparison
shopping offer and present significant servicing
issues, and are therefore discouraged.
15.8 / As the UK’s premier shopping street, the
impact of changes to the retail sector will likely
be most strongly felt in Oxford Street – particularly
given the existing presence of multiple stores by
the same operators. Comprehensive proposals
for the future of the area that respond to these
challenges, including proposals for an enhanced
public realm that improves the user experience,
are therefore in development. Further guidance on
our approach to development in the Oxford Street
District may be provided through an SPD.
6 2017 London Town Centre Health Check (January 2018)
GLA

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

15.9 / The WERLSPA covers the wider West End,
where there is an insatiable demand for new
floorspace across all land uses. Beyond the West
End International Centre it captures iconic areas
of retail and leisure activity such as Covent Garden,
Leicester Square and Theatreland. Away from
the main shopping streets, the land use is highly
diverse, containing a mix of commercial activity
including retail, pubs, bars, restaurants, theatres,
cinemas and other entertainment venues.
Together these provide a wealth of attractions
that draw in visitors and make a major contribution
to London’s world city status. The mix of uses also
provide rest and refreshment for workers and
shoppers during the day.
15.10 / Alongside retail growth, a balanced mix
of complementary leisure, entertainment, food
and drink and cultural and employment offers are
welcomed to help the West End to grow, not only
as a global shopping destination, but also as an
enhanced leisure and employment destination.
Such growth in the West End will make an important
contribution to meeting Westminster’s employment
growth targets.
15.11 / To realise shared objectives of improving
the local environment to make visiting the area a
more pleasurable experience, whilst maintaining
and enhancing the West End's global reputation,
we will continue to work within the West End
Partnership (WEP) and with other stakeholders.

15.12 / The CAZ Retail Clusters provide clusters
of retail and other complementary town centre
uses that make a major contribution towards the
strategic functions of the CAZ, as set out in the
London Plan. They meet the needs of a combination
of residents, workers and visitors, adding to central
London’s wide appeal. New development within
them will respond to local character in terms of the
scale and nature of the proposed uses. The nature
of activity across the CAZ means that in many
instances retail and other complementary town
centre uses will be welcomed beyond the ground
floor, though proposals will need to respect that the
CAZ is also home to a large residential population.
15.13 / Queensway / Westbourne Grove Major
Centre is the only Major Centre in Westminster.
It is designated as such due to the scale and
nature of its mix of convenience and comparison
retail activity and complementary town centre uses.
It has a traditional high street character largely
surrounded by residential areas and provides an
important convenience shopping function to these
local residents. However, an over-concentration
of entertainment uses and the loss of retail to hotels
have weakened the vitality and viability of the centre,
which now needs reversing. Over the plan period,
new development that reinforces the centre's retail
function through opportunities for ground floor retail
with residential above is welcomed. This will be
supported by investment in the public realm, which
is likely to include increased footway widths to

65

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

enhance the pedestrian environment, and the
provision of new loading bays to help meet
businesses' servicing requirements.

Page 77

15.14 / The District Centres of Praed Street,
St Johns Wood High Street, Harrow Road and
Church Street each have their own distinct
character and challenges that new development
will need to respond to. The proximity of Praed
Street to Paddington Opportunity Area is likely
to increase demand for retail floorspace that is more
focussed on new residents needs than the current
offer which is more orientated towards visitors,
tourists and workers. The presence of boutique
fashion and independent retailers in small format
stores is fundamental to the character of St John’s
Wood High Street, although there is a lack of leisure
and community facilities in the centre. Harrow Road
currently suffers from a comparative lack of quality
and diversity in its retail offer; a balance therefore
needs to be found between protecting the remaining
retail, and allowing for other uses that provide new
employment opportunities and bring greater activity
to the centre. Church Street provides a range
of shops and services to local residents and has
a long established antiques market and theatre
that hosts community events. A growth in retail,
cultural and community facilities in the area will
support sustainable growth as regeneration
proposals come forward.
15.15 / There are numerous Local Centres in
Westminster. They are smaller in scale than District
Centres, playing a more localised role for residents

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

and workers. They normally contain a mix of
convenience goods shops, local service uses,
restaurants, cafés and pubs. These centres can
provide a focal point for community activity, and
the availability of a range of shops and services
close to where people live can be particularly
important for the less mobile. Over the plan period,
these centres will maintain a healthy mix of uses
that includes a range of convenience shops for
local residents to carry out their day-to-day shopping
needs, supplemented by complementary uses that
enhance centres’ vitality and viability. This includes
uses such as banks, advice centres, doctor’s
surgeries, and cafés. Given their localised role,
the use of upper floors for residential purposes
is supported in principle.
15.16 / Beyond the existing town centre
hierarchy, we will work with neighbourhood
forums to identify additional retail frontages
of importance to neighbourhood areas and
policies to guide development within them,
through neighbourhood plans.
15.17 / Proposals for major new retail development
are expected to provide a range of unit sizes to
encourage variety in the shopping offer and support
small business growth.
15.18 / Whilst not forming a part of Westminster’s
town centre hierarchy, the wider CAZ as defined
in the London Plan covers much of the city. Town
centre uses provide a key element of the mix of uses
within it and contribute to its character and strategic

functions. However, the CAZ is also home to many
local residents and some parts of it are also
wholly residential in character. To respect its many
functions, policy support is provided for town centre
uses where they would not be detrimental to local
character or residential amenity. Our approach
to requirements for sequential tests and impact
assessments – as set out in the NPPF – reflects
that whilst commercial uses should be supported
within the CAZ, the town centre hierarchy should
provide the key focus of retail related growth.
Managing change of use
15.19 / Online shopping is having major impacts on
the retail industry. It is well documented that many
high street retailers and department stores have
struggled to survive, and town centres and high
streets need to adapt and offer shoppers a better
experience to increase footfall, dwell time and
customer spend. This includes investment in the
public realm, but also the nature of land uses.
Policy therefore provides support for the evolution
of our town centres and high streets. Supporting
subsidiary uses within host stores can help increase
dwell time within department stores and flagship
stores, whilst there is also a growing trend toward
blurring of use classes (shops that also serve food
and drink on site and provide exhibition space for
example). Well managed pop-up and meanwhile
uses can support small businesses to test their
products, and add to the vibrancy of an area by
attracting new footfall.

66

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

Page 78

15.20 / Such flexibility needs to be managed to
ensure retail remains an essential part of the mix
of land uses, and projected levels of retail growth
can be accommodated. The cumulative change
of use of A1 retail units can harm the appearance,
character and retail function of town centres and
high streets. Furthermore, a predominance of uses
such as shisha bars, betting shops and fast-food
takeaways can also be detrimental to public health.
Proposals resulting in the loss of an A1 retail unit
will be therefore considered in terms of their impact
on the health of the centre, and will require marketing
evidence demonstrating that continued retail use
is no longer viable.

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

through updates to town centre health checks, and
use our powers to make directions requiring the
submission of planning applications as appropriate.

15.21 / Marketing evidence will not be required
within the Oxford Street frontage to the West End
International Centre. This is in recognition of the
existing presence of multiple stores by the same
operators, recent growth in certain A1 uses that
undermine its status as the UK’s premier shopping
street, and the need to be at the forefront of
innovation in the sector.
15.22 / Where temporary consents are granted
for non-A1 uses, this will not remove requirements
for marketing evidence before any permanent
change of use is considered.
15.23 / In considering change of use proposals,
many town centre uses enjoy permitted
development rights under national planning
legislation. We will keep the balance of uses and
emerging clusters across our centres under review

67

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

Appendix 2 – Draft Proposed City Plan Policy 14 (as consulted on 12th November 2018 –
21st December 2018)
14. Supporting economic growth
A. New and improved office and B1 floorspace
across the plan period will be supported
to provide capacity for at least 75,000 new
jobs between 2016 and 2041, enabling the
continued growth and clustering of the
creative, knowledge, and research-based
sectors. Additional floorspace that meets
the needs of modern working practices,
including the provision of co-working space,
is supported in principle in:

Page 79

1. The Central Activities Zone (CAZ),
including the West End Retail and Leisure
Special Policy Area (WERLSPA) and
Opportunity Areas
2. North West Economic Development
Area (NWEDA)
3. Church Street / Edgware Road Housing
Renewal Area
4. Existing town centres
B. In the NWEDA and the Church Street /
Edgware Road Housing Renewal Area,
a range of workspace typologies,
including workshops and studios,
will be particularly welcome.
C. Proposals involving the loss of office
space from the CAZ must demonstrate

that they are necessary to secure a high
quality scheme that meets the needs of
modern working practices, and that any
alternative uses make a positive contribution
to the strategic functions of the CAZ.
D. Proposals involving the loss of space suitable
for small and medium sized enterprises
(SMEs), particularly in the NWEDA, will
make suitable re-provision on site to ensure
no net loss of employment floorspace.

New and improved employment floorspace
14.1 / Westminster is a global office centre, with
an estimated 8.6 million sq m of office floorspace1,
ranging from small traditional offices in heritage
buildings, to large modern floorplates. These cater
for a full range of occupiers, including real estate,
hedge funds, professional / financial services and
creative industries.
14.2 / However, since 2005, more than 570,000
sq m2 of office stock has been lost in the city –
predominantly to residential (including permitted
development schemes) or hotels. Reduction in
supply has resulted in low vacancy levels (less than

1 As of March 2017 – based on 1990 Land Use Survey and
pipeline updates
2 Pipeline data, March 2017

8% across the city)3 and high rents. This trend
needs to be reversed in order to continue to
compete globally, to support the continued growth
of emerging sectors such as creative industries and
technology, and to adapt to modern working
practices.
14.3 / The London Office Policy Review (2017)
estimates a need for more than 75,000 officebased jobs in Westminster from 2016 to 2041.
Using average employment densities this could
translate to a requirement for as much as 850,000
sq m of additional office stock over a 25 year
period; However, a number of uncertainties exist
that make it difficult to accurately predict how much
additional floorspace will be needed. New and
refurbished office stock could continue to result
in higher employment densities through more
efficient use of space, though the extent to
which this remains feasible in constrained older
stock is unclear.
14.4 / A continued rise in agile working practices
including home working could also temper
demand for additional office floorspace in key
office markets, as could the unknown impacts
of Brexit. Despite these uncertainties and given
current job projections, the continued loss of
office stock from the city is unsustainable, and a
net growth in dedicated employment floorspace
will be needed over the plan period.
3 Local Economic Assessment, 2014: http://transact.
westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/LEA_V.
II_November2014_FINAL.pdf
60

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

14.5 / London Plan policy recognises the
strategic importance of the central London
office market and encourages the renewal
and modernisation of existing stock, along
with increased provision in areas of sustained
demand for office-based activities.
14.6 / The West End, along with the Opportunity
Areas at Paddington, Victoria and Tottenham Court
Road, provide the main opportunities for significant
office growth. These areas of the city:

Page 80

–– are home to existing concentrations of such
use by a variety of occupiers (from small spaces
in Mayfair and St James, to large floorplates
in Victoria and Paddington);
–– include clusters of activity in growth sectors –
such as in the creative industries in Soho;
–– represent areas of high demand (Paddington
in particular has seen substantial office gains
over the period 1997-2016 of 132,000 sq m) 4;
–– are benefitting from investment in public transport
infrastructure (including the Elizabeth Line and,
in the future, potentially Crossrail 2); and
–– offer opportunities for future growth
and intensification.
14.7 / Office growth in these locations will
be secured through a combination of:
–– the refurbishment and expansion of existing stock;

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

–– the development of new office buildings
at a greater density than the buildings they
replace; and
–– the inclusion of additional office floorspace
as part of new mixed use developments.
14.8 / Beyond these key office markets, further
provision of new employment space in the NWEDA
and the Church Street / Edgware Road Housing
Renewal Area can help complement regeneration
schemes and secure a more sustainable pattern
of growth. New employment space in these areas,
where land values are lower, can help support
small start-up businesses and enhance job
opportunities in areas of deprivation. They could
also offer scope for a more diverse range of
workspaces than the office orientated activity
found in more central locations.
14.9 / Offices are identified in national planning
policy as a town centre use. Additional provision
will therefore be supported across our highly
accessible network of town centres as they continue
to evolve as multi-functional areas of commercial
activity. Such provision can help support existing
successful businesses to continue to thrive.
14.10 / Technological advances are clearly
resulting in changing working practices, which
new and improved workspaces need to respond
to. In recent times, hot-desking, remote working,
and less regimented working hours have all

become more commonplace, as have freelancing
activity and a growth in small businesses. This is
resulting in an increasing demand for more flexible
workspaces that better facilitate collaboration, and
provide ancillary facilities on-site for workers to help
improve their work-life balance.
14.11 / To enable growing sectors to continue to
thrive, new and refurbished employment floorspace
should be designed to meet the needs of modern
occupiers. This could include providing dedicated
space for hot-desking, informal meetings and
collaboration, hosting conferences, and the provision
of on-site amenities that helps make them attractive
to a talented workforce. Proposals to this effect
should be clearly detailed on floor plans, with the
rationale behind proposals detailed in planning
or design and access statements. Development
should also offer flexible spaces and leasing
arrangements that can adapt to occupiers changing
demands through the life-cycle of their business.
Doing so is consistent with national and London
planning policy that new and emerging business
sectors should be planned for through the provision
of a range of workspaces.
Protection of existing employment floorspace
14.12 / Loss of office floorspace from the CAZ risks
undermining its key strategic employment functions
as defined in the London Plan, and as a result, the
global competitiveness of the London economy.

4 Integrated Impact Assessment, 2017

61

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

E C O N O M Y A N D E M P LOY M E N T

Page 81

At present the entire CAZ benefits from an
exemption from permitted development rights
for conversion of B1 offices to C3 residential.
When this exemption expires in 2019, control of
such proposals in Westminster will be maintained
through an Article 4 Direction. Any further loss of
office floorspace from the CAZ must demonstrate
that it is necessary to secure a well-designed
scheme that responds to site-specific constraints,
and that the development helps adapt the space
to meet the needs of modern working practices.
While this could include the provision of ancillary
facilities for workers, the net loss of existing office
floorspace in the CAZ to facilitate the development
of unrelated uses such as residential or hotels
is unacceptable.
14.13 / When assessing whether development
proposals would result in the loss of workspace
suitable for SMEs, consideration will be given
to evidence provided from existing or previous
occupiers of their needs in terms of rent levels,
building layout, and locational requirements for
proximity to supply chains. This will be particularly
important in the NWEDA, where promoting growth
and diversification in economic activity are central
to our strategy for the area’s development. This
principle must not be compromised by pressure
for alternative uses such as residential. On-site
re-provision of commercial floorspace will
therefore be sought.

62

This page is intentionally left blank

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

S PAT I A L S T R AT E G Y

Appendix 3 – Draft Proposed City Plan Policy 5 (as consulted on 12th November 2018 –
21st December 2018)
5. Spatial Development Priorities:
North West Economic
Development Area
Regeneration of the North West Economic
Development Area (NWEDA) over the plan
period will deliver the following priorities:

Page 83

A. Increased job opportunities for local
residents. This will be achieved through
the protection of existing employment
floorspace, and the provision of additional
employment and commercial floorspace that
is suitable for small and medium enterprises
(SMEs) and helps diversify the local economy.
B. A greener and more walkable environment
that addresses issues of severance caused
by the railway tracks, canal and Harrow Road,
and creates opportunities for the extension
of, and greater use of , the Grand Union
Canal towpath.
C. Enhancements to Harrow Road District
Centre to provide a greater range of
activity and a more attractive physical
environment - including the transformation
of Maida Hill Junction.
D. The provision of new and improved social
and community infrastructure that meets
the needs of the local community.

5.1 / The NWEDA has long contained some
of Westminster’s most deprived areas, with lower
levels of qualifications, earnings and health, and
higher levels of worklessness, than elsewhere
in the city. It is therefore as an area requiring
coordinated intervention to tackle persistent levels
of inequality. Efforts through this plan will include
providing for improved opportunities within the area
itself, but also ensuring residents benefit from the
opportunities offered by development in more
central parts of Westminster. The boundary of the
area has been amended from the previous City Plan
to exclude Paddington Opportunity Area – to reflect
the different nature of development expected there.
Commercial growth
5.2 / Much of the NWEDA is primarily residential,
with a high proportion of social rented affordable
housing, but it does also contains some commercial
areas. The Woodfield Road area is home to a
variety of businesses, and offers opportunities for
intensification that can deliver new job opportunities
alongside additional high quality homes. Building on
the success of Great Western Studios nearby, there
is scope to grow the local offer for creative, start-up,
and grow-on business space including workshops,
studios and canal boat offices - distinct from
the employment offer elsewhere. Land under the
A40 Westway also offers potential for additional
enterprise space. Multi-purpose spaces that
provide opportunities for community use, such as at
Paddington Arts, will be welcomed, as will meanwhile
use of space in advance of redevelopment
proposals. New commercial development in Harrow

Road District Centre for town centre uses can
also help sustain its long term vitality and viability
and provide employment opportunities.
Open space
5.3 / The area is deficient in publicly accessible
open space6. Severance from the Grand Union
Canal, A40 Westway, and railway lines, all currently
limit access to existing open spaces within the area
and beyond. New development should therefore
seek to green the area, by providing new publicly
accessible open spaces such as that being provided
at Walterdon and Elgin Community Homes Gardens,
and increasing activity along the Grand Union Canal.
The canal represents a significant underutilised asset
that offers opportunities to provide an attractive
walking and cycling environment - both to job
opportunities in nearby Paddington and Old Oak
Common, and also to high quality open space at
Regent's Park. Bids are being made to TfL’s Liveable
Neighbourhoods Programme to fund interventions
that help encourage walking, cycling and use
of public transport.
Retail
5.4 / Harrow Road District Centre provides the
main cluster of shops and other town centre uses
within the area. It is important that this continues to
provide for local resident's shopping and servicing
needs alongside Maida Hill Market, but also that it
adapts to the challenges traditional high streets
6 www.gigl.org.uk

37

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

S PAT I A L S T R AT E G Y

Page 84
Map 4: North West Economic Development Area

38

CONTENTS

CIT Y PLAN 2019 – 2040

S PAT I A L S T R AT E G Y

Page 85

face. The findings of the Westminster Town Centre
Health Check 2018 identified poor quality public
realm, lack of active shop fronts, and the presence
of some low quality retail and uses such as hot
food takeaways and betting shops. Greater diversity
within the centre, including the growth of the
evening and night-time economy, and spaces for
small businesses with active frontages (including
meanwhile uses) will therefore be supported,
alongside investment in the public realm to improve
its physical appearance. To secure its long term
sustainability, it is envisaged that the retail core
of the centre will remain close to Maida Hill Market,
with a more diverse mix of uses supported on the
periphery of the centre. To support a more attractive
retail core, improvements to Maida Hill junction
will secure a safer, more welcoming environment
for pedestrians and cyclists. Opportunities to
reduce severance to the District Centre so it
more conveniently serves a wider catchment area
will also be sought. This could include additional
or more inviting canal crossings and road
underpasses. Proposals for the centre will be
set out in a forthcoming Harrow Road Place Plan.
Social and community infrastructure
5.5 / New social and community infrastructure
in the area will be important to support sustainable
growth, meet the needs of local communities, and
provide opportunities for them to mix. Development
will therefore be supported by investment in
improved education, health and leisure facilities
necessary to support population growth.

39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Economic Development,
Education, Community and
Place Shaping Policy &
Scrutiny Committee
Date:

30 January 2019

Classification:

General Release

Title:

2018/19 Work Programme and Action Tracker

Report of:

Director of Policy, Performance & Communications

Cabinet Member Portfolio

Cabinet Member for Economic Development,
Education and Community
Cabinet Member for Place Shaping and Planning

Wards Involved:

All

Policy Context:

All

Report Author and
Contact Details:

Artemis Kassi x 3451
akassi@westminster.gov.uk

1.

Executive Summary

1.

This report presents the current version of the work programme for 2018 – 2019
and also provides an update on the action tracker.

2.

Key Matters for the Committee’s Consideration

2.1

The Committee is asked to:




Review and approve the draft list of suggested items (appendix 1) and
prioritise where required;
Note the action tracker (appendix 2); and
Finalise items for the April meeting.

3.

Changes to the work programme following the last meeting

3.1

At the first committee meeting in June, and in subsequent discussions,
members reviewed and suggested items for inclusion in the Work Programme.
These are reflected in Appendix 2.

Page 87

3.2
3.3

The Committee is asked to review the Unallocated Items with a view to
finalising the topics for the April meeting.
The Committee may wish to review the Work Programme in light of recent
additions to cabinet.

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the
Background Papers, please contact Artemis Kassi
akassi@westminster.gov.uk
APPENDICES:
Appendix 1- Suggested Work Programme
Appendix 2- Action Tracker

Page 88

Economic Development, Education, Community and Place Shaping Policy and Scrutiny Committee
2018/2019 Work Programme

ROUND ONE
11 JUNE 2018
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Represented by

Cabinet Member Q&A

To update the committee on key
areas of work within its remit and
the Cabinet Member’s priorities

Cabinet Member Q&A

To update the committee on key
areas of work within its remit and
the Cabinet Member’s priorities

Councillor David Harvey
Cabinet Member for
Economic Development,
Education and Community
Councillor Richard Beddoe
Cabinet Member for Place
Shaping and Planning

ROUND TWO
17 SEPTEMBER 2018
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Represented by

Cabinet Member Q&A

To receive an update and provide
“critical friend” challenge

Social Value

To review the social value work
which Westminster is undertaking
(including the changing nature of
Social Value, the scale of the
opportunity, its work with Heart of
the City, section 106, CIL and the
role of technology)

Councillor David Harvey
Cabinet Member for
Economic Development,
Education and Community
Greg Ward

SEND Strategy (briefing)

To review the Strategy and provide
comment

Page 89

Ian Heggs

ROUND THREE
19 NOVEMBER 2018
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Represented by

Cabinet Member Q&A

To receive an update and provide
“critical friend” challenge

Education – School Organisation
and Investment Strategy
Early Years Funding

To receive an update and provide
comment on the strategy
To review nursery funding (member
request)

Councillor David Harvey
Cabinet Member for
Economic Development,
Education and Community
Ian Heggs
Wendy Anthony
Ian Heggs
Anita Stokes

ROUND FOUR
30 JANUARY 2019
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Represented by

Cabinet Member Q&A

To receive an update and provide
“critical friend” challenge

Councillor Richard Beddoe
Cabinet Member for Place
Shaping and Planning
Julia Corkey
Ezra Wallace

City Plan

To review the draft City Plan and
provide comment as part of the
consultation process
Education – School Performance To evaluate areas of success and
report
areas to be developed. To make
recommendations

Ian Heggs
Richard Stanley

ROUND FIVE
3 APRIL 2019
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Represented by

Cabinet Member Q&A

To receive an update and provide
“critical friend” challenge

Employment Support

To review the provision of
employment support

Councillor David Harvey
Cabinet Member for
Economic Development,
Education and Skills
Greg Ward

Page 90

UNALLOCATED ITEMS
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Represented by

Employment Support

To review the provision of
employment support, the
challenges and opportunities
presented by Brexit. Link to the
Mayor’s skill strategy
To review the Westminster
Employment Service one year on,
with particular focus on the
assistance provided to the longterm unemployed (member
request)
To review, including an update on
Moberly Sports Centre
To review the work of these and
similar council-supported bodies
(member request)
To review how scrutiny’s previous
recommendations have been acted
upon
To review this project, supporting
and encouraging arts and culture in
a local community
To evaluate key areas of success of
the Made in Libraries pilot project
and where lessons learnt are
applicable to the Fun Palaces
national scheme pilot
To review youth engagement
To review how healthy eating and
physical activity are supported in
Westminster schools (member
request)
For the committee to be briefed on
the planning process in the City

Greg Ward

Westminster Employment
Service/Hubs linked with adult
education

Active Westminster
BIDs

Libraries Advisory Board

Create Church Street

Made in Libraries/Fun Palaces

Westminster Youth Foundation
Healthy Eating and Physical
Activity in Schools

The Planning Process

Page 91

Greg Ward

Andy Durrant
Greg Ward

Michael Clarke

Michael Clarke

Phil Barron

Michela Leoni/Marina Mollà
Bolta

TASK GROUPS AND STUDIES
Subject

Reasons & objective

Type

Access to culture

To review how Westminster
families, particularly those on lowincomes, can access culture within
the City (member request)

Task Group commissioned at
committee meeting in
November 2018. Research
commenced.

Volunteering in Westminster

Scope of volunteering in
Westminster. Evaluate the cost of
volunteering to individuals and
organisations. What value does
volunteering add to those who
receive volunteering and
volunteers themselves? Long-term
impacts of volunteering.
Investigate whether the council
should do more to direct
volunteering towards priorities

Task Group

Page 92

ACTION TRACKER
Economic Development, Education, Community and Place Shaping
ROUND 3
19 November 2018

Agenda Item

Action

Status/Follow Up

Item 5
Cabinet Member
Updates
Policy and Scrutiny
Portfolio:
Cabinet Member for
Economic
Development,
Education and
Community

The Committee requested a briefing note
on the Active Streets Pilot.

Completed

The Committee requested a briefing note
on whether ‘Active Minutes’ in
Westminster’s schools had increased in
the past year.

Completed

The Committee requested a briefing note
on the next steps for Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) in
Westminster.

In progress

Item 6
Cabinet Member for
Place Shaping and
Planning

The Committee requested an update on
the Berkeley Square project.

In progress

Item 7
School Organisation
and Investment
Strategy 2018

The Committee requested that they
receive regular updates regarding the
potential expansion of Pimlico Academy
(particularly Professor Ryan and
Councillor Andrea Mann).

In progress

The Committee requested a briefing
note on the capacity/admission criteria of
the Sir Simon Milton Foundation UTC.

Completed

The Committee requested to see the
report commissioned on staff turnover in
Westminster’s schools.

Completed

The Committee requested a briefing
note outlining how the Early Years Team
would be updating their operational
procedures.

In progress

Item 8
Early Years

Page 93

ROUND 2
17 September 2018

Agenda Item
Item 5
Cabinet Member
Updates
Policy and Scrutiny
Portfolio:
Cabinet Member for
Economic
Development,
Education and
Community

Item 8
Social Value
Presentation

Action

Status/Follow Up

The Committee requested that detailed
data/financial implications for services
be included in future reports.
The Committee requested a briefing
note on the operation of the Brexit
Helpline including the questions asked
and the number of calls received.

Noted.

The Committee requested a briefing
note on the operation of the resident’s
discount offers at the Moberly and
Jubilee Sports Centres.

Completed

The Committee requested to see the
September newsletter produced by the
Kings Business School.

Completed

The Committee requested a briefing
note regarding the Hub Westminster
shareholder dispute including the
outcome from the meeting in October.

Completed

The Committee requested a briefing
note regarding the individual funding for
each pupil the introduction of The
National Funding Formula for schools.

Completed

Councillor Harvey to arrange a meeting
with Councillor Mann to discuss the
development of the new Cultural and
Heritage Strategy.

Completed

The Committee suggested that the
diagram on how Section 106
Employment and Skills Commitments
works be made available to
members/business/public

In progress

Page 94

Completed

ROUND 1
11 June 2018

Agenda Item
Item 5

Action
Site visit to the Sir Simon Milton Foundation
Technical College

Policy and Scrutiny
Portfolio:
Cabinet Member for
Economic Development,
Education and
Community
Item 6
Cabinet Member
Updates:
Policy and Scrutiny
Portfolio:
Cabinet Member for
Place Shaping and
Planning

Briefing note on the payment of the
Community Infrastructure Levy for the
committee

Page 95

Status/Follow
Up
In progress.
Officers are
exploring best
times for the site
visit, which may
coincide with a
committee
meeting
Circulated and
completed

This page is intentionally left blank

